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--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 19:38 p.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, it looks like we are ready to get started.  My name is Harold Thiessen.  I am the case manager on behalf of Board Staff for this rate application for Greater Sudbury Hydro, EB-2008-0230.


And with me today from Board Staff are Christie Clark and Neil Mather, who are going to be asking some questions as part of this technical conference.  Kristi Sebalj is also here.  She is our lawyer from Board Staff who is also going to be observing today.

These introductory remarks, I will try to organize the proceedings today, set out the history of the case, talk about scheduling and the organization for this morning and the next couple of days as we move from the technical conference to the settlement conference.

As a part of the background of this case, the notice of application of hearing was issued on January 13th, 2009.  Procedure Order No. 1 was issued on February 18th and made provision for interrogatories and an original technical conference.

Interrogatory responses were submitted on March 19th by the applicant, Greater Sudbury, and further updates in those responses were provided on March the 30th.

Greater Sudbury declined to have the original technical conference which was originally scheduled for March 11th, and once the interrogatory responses were received, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 2 on March 31st, which sought the input of all parties as to the appropriate next steps in this proceeding.

Based on the submission of the parties, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 3 on April 17th, which allowed for a second round of interrogatories to provide an opportunity for all parties to ask clarifying questions, which related specifically to the existing interrogatory responses.  Procedural Order No. 3 also made provision for a settlement conference, and Procedural Order No. 4, which was issued on April 28th, the dates for the supplementary interrogatory responses were set and actually amended, and the dates for the technical settlement conference we're having today were also amended.

A date was also set for the submission of a settlement proposal to the Board, if there is one, of June the 12th, with a presentation of that proposal in front of the Board set for June 18th at 1:30 p.m.

Now, as everyone is on a tight time line, it is important that we use our time as efficiently as possible today and that we move straight into the settlement conference once the technical conference is complete.

I have booked this room for the entire week, and Greater Sudbury has taken the office next door as their sort of conference area, and hopefully there will be enough time to get everything done in that time period.

So this morning, the technical conference, there will be questions from Board Staff and from the intervenors based on the written interrogatories filed by -- interrogatory responses filed by Greater Sudbury, and there will be follow-up questions to those responses.

We hopefully won't need any undertakings this morning, or at least we will try and minimize the filing of additional documents, so it's important that everyone be clear in their questions and that the applicant be able to produce answers to the relevant questions within the scope of the hearing.

This technical conference is transcribed, so, therefore, if you could speak loudly and clearly so that the court reporter can hear you, and also be sure to touch the green button in front of you so the green light comes on, to show that your microphone is on.

In terms of the order of events, my understanding is that Greater Sudbury will provide a brief introduction, and Board Staff will go first with the first questions in the technical conference, and then we will probably go in the order of appearances of the intervenors that are here.

If there are any real disputes today, the panel is not here to hear them, so if there is any point where there are objections or responses on the record, we can discuss next steps as we go through the day.

So at this point I think we should have appearances.  I have introduced Board Staff, so if the intervenors could introduce themselves, and then we will go to Greater Sudbury's panel.
Appearances:

DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning.  Roger Higgin, consultant to the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, VECC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I understand that Julie Girvan of the Consumers Council of Canada will be here, but not until tomorrow.

MR. THIESSEN:  Will Greater Sudbury introduce --

MR. REEVES:  Good morning.  My name is Doug Reeves.  I am the just retired CEO of Greater Sudbury Hydro.  I retired at the end of May, and they have asked me to follow this process through to the end.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am Stan Pawlowicz.  I am the vice president of corporate services for the utility.  I have been with the utility for about 12 years and have gone through all of the changes with the Commission and all the way through to where we are today.

MR. McMILLAN:  Brian McMillan.  I am vice president, distribution electrical systems with the utility.  I am a professional engineer with -- licensed professional engineer with 30 years' experience in distribution systems; worked for Ontario Hydro, the old Ontario Hydro; worked for North Bay Hydro; and now I am with Sudbury Hydro.

MS. WHISSELL:  I am Nancy Whissell.  I am the accounting supervisor.

MS. KOSKI:  And I am Jodie Koski.  I'm in regulatory affairs.

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  I think that's everyone.  My understanding is that Greater Sudbury had some opening remarks.
GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO INC.

Opening Submissions by Mr. Reeves:

MR. REEVES:  I have some very brief remarks.  Thank you.

First of all, I would like to explain that this is our first time through this type of a process, so if you find we are a little bit nervous or flustered or disorganized at times, you know, it is a new process for us and it's actually a bit intimidating for us.

I would also like to say that I wonder if any of you have ever been to Sudbury, because, you know, Sudbury is known to have perhaps the worst roads in Ontario, if not in Canada.  If you followed our local politics, at all, you would realize this is an ongoing weekly issue in the newspapers, cars damaged by potholes, so on and so forth.

And certainly this is one of the things that we have tried to address in our application is this infrastructure deficit.  We have somewhat of an infrastructure deficit.  We are not in the condition of the roads, but we don't want to get into that position, and Brian has done a lot of hard work, a lot of intensive study, to determine exactly where that deficit sits.  And, as I say, that's one of the things that we have tried to address in our application.

The other thing that we have tried to do and it's -- we find it a little harder now to determine where our rate sits, you know, in conjunction with all the other municipal utilities in the province.

We have monitored that closely over the years.  It's a little harder now because of the three-year rate-basing process.  You have to determine if somebody has rebased or not before you try to compare rates, perhaps.

Our rates, we use as the comparator the rates for residential customer who consumes 1,000 kilowatt-hours a month.  If our application was approved as it stands, that bill would be about $118.08, which we think is, you know, kind of middle of the road when it comes to municipal utilities, as far as we can determine.

Something that I would like you to be aware of, though, is that we don't service the entire city of Greater Sudbury.  We are one of those amalgamated communities where we service around 45,000 customers.  Hydro One services around 29,000 customers.  One of the things that we are challenged with on a daily basis, almost, is the difference in rates between ours and theirs.

This is something that we know we can't address in this forum, but we have been trying to address it elsewhere.  Their rates as of January 28th, 2009 -- and I know they have had a rate increase as of May the 1st.  Their bill for an urban customer is $130.63.  Their bill for an R1 customer is $140.51, and for an R2 customer $145.64.  And that's a discrepancy that, like I say, it's outside of this forum, but I feel that I must bring it up.

So with that, we'd certainly try to respond to any questions that you have.
Questions by Mr. Thiessen:

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, thank you very much.  I think I am going to start, from Board Staff's perspective, with one question on the load forecast.  What I am referring to is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 12, which was then followed up with a Supplementary Interrogatory No. 2.

And both those interrogatories dealt with the fact that it appeared that Greater Sudbury had used an older or out-of-date economic forecast for their load forecast.

And if I skip straight to the Supplementary Interrogatory No. 2, Greater Sudbury in that response provided an alternate forecast using the latest up-to-date economic data.

The end point of this forecast was 1002.2 gigawatt-hours, which compares to the original forecast in the application of 973.5 gigawatt-hours.

So my question is whether Greater Sudbury has further considered updating their forecast and what your position is on the forecast to be used in the application as is?

MS. WHISSELL:  In the follow-up interrogatory, we had provided information with the updated GDP information.  But, as noted, it provided a load increase, even though the GDP was declining.  We didn't think that that made sense, and we are comfortable with our original load forecast, and that's what we would continue to table.

MR. THIESSEN:  Are there any other sort of mitigating reasons for going with a lower forecast?  I mean, is there a reason that the update had some sort of a structural deficiency, or something like that, that would make you go for the lower forecast?

MS. WHISSELL:  I don't believe so.  We used a consultant for our load forecast, and, based on his expertise, the product that we used has been approved by the Board in previous applications.

We do have a bit of an anomaly that creates where we have this negative coefficient.  When the GDP drops, the figures go up.  But he is confident that it's a reasonable tool to utilize, because our patterns over the years had rises and falls, and that's what generated this negative coefficient.  But we are still confident with the product.

MR. THIESSEN:  Is your conclusion also based on further deterioration of economic conditions in Sudbury, or -- is that why you are more comfortable with the lower forecast than the higher forecast?

MS. WHISSELL:  Historically, we have very little load growth.  We are an older established utility with not a lot of growth.  Most of the growth is in the outlying Hydro One areas, and that's the results that we got from the original forecast and I think that's why we are satisfied with that product.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Well, that's my...
Questions by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Could I just -- to do a follow-up, and then it will take one of our questions off.

When you reviewed the model and the coefficients, and so on, in response to Board Staff, did you go back to the consultant?  Did you ask him specifically to look at that, because it is counterintuitive?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, we did.

DR. HIGGIN:  And then, number two, were there any other specifications tested, such as the relationship between employment and the end load?  Several other utilities are using employment rather than GDP, employment figures.

MS. WHISSELL:  No, we did not do that kind of testing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  This result is anomalous.  It is out of line with other utility models that we have seen, so just note that.  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, that's my original question.  I am going to turn it over now to -- who is going to go next?  Christie Clark will be asking some other questions.
Questions by Mr. Clark:

MR. CLARK:  Good morning, panel.  I earlier passed out a bundle of documents which I would like the file, and I think I will file them with three separate numbers, just for clarity.  The first one, the title, "Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. EB-2008-0203" we will call Exhibit TC-1.  The second one, called "Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. Cost Drivers BSIR 19" will be TC-2, and the third one, TC-3, is Board Staff Interrogatory Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. EB-2008-0230, page 34 of 90.

EXHIBIT NO. TC-1:  Document entitled "Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. EB-2008-0203"
EXHIBIT NO. TC-2:  Document entitled "Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. Cost Drivers BSIR 19"
EXHIBIT NO. TC-3:  Board Staff Interrogatory Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. EB-2008-0230, page 34 of 90.

MR. CLARK:  Now, I would like to, just for clarification, start with Exhibit TC-1 right at the very top, where I have tried to summarize what I found in the evidence on inflation rates.

Am I correct in assuming that labour inflation is per the union contract, and all other is estimated at 1.7 percent?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  I would like to move down now to -- what's on this document is basically my notes summarizing the case as it's developing.  There are a number of holes that I want the fill or there are some clarifications I need.

So I want to move down now to where, on the left, it says "cost drivers".  The cost drivers I'm referring to are found on Exhibit TC-2, and this is a summary of Board Staff Interrogatory 19.

And just to explain TC-2, column 5 is the cross-add of columns 1 through 4, which is what you had identified as cost drivers for each of the years 2006 through to 2009.

Column 6 would be what I identified in column 5 as built in prior to 2009, and continuing.  And column 7 is what I see as being built into 2009, and I don't know if they continue or not.

So I will be going through this table trying to ascertain:  Are you in fact building these costs in going forward?

The first one is tree-trimming where, in 2006, you have $410,000.  Are you annually spending $410,000 in tree trimming?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  And what kind of cycle do you have for tree trimming?

MR. McMILLAN:  A four-year cycle.

MR. CLARK:  A four-year cycle.  Are you aware that Hydro One, your neighbour, uses an eight-year cycle?

MR. McMILLAN:  And it's deficient.

MR. CLARK:  So you don't agree with that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Not at all.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  You have mentioned that you have made hires for control room, a new supervisor, but $300,000 seems to be a high increase.  This is line 3, column 4 in the cost drivers.

Why would we suddenly have $300,000 invested in the control room?

MR. McMILLAN:  So I understand clearly, when you say in this column $300,000, is that from 2006 to 2009, or what's the differential there that gives you the number 300,000?

MR. CLARK:  This is your number that you produced in interrogatory 19 for 2009, unless I put it in wrong.

MR. McMILLAN:  We would have to go back and look at our interrogatory responses to respond properly to that.  Do we do that now or do we wait?

MR. CLARK:  I am willing to take an undertaking rather than delay this.  You can look at it at the break or later today, because this is really building up to going into settlement conference, in any event.

MR. REEVES:  Could I go back to item number two, is that possible, the tree trimming comment?

MR. CLARK:  Pardon me?

MR. REEVES:  Could I go back to item number two, the tree trimming?

MR. CLARK:  Certainly.

MR. REEVES:  Yes.  And I think it's in the terminology somewhat, as well.  We do tree trimming.  You know, we -- Hydro One does more line clearing.  You know, they will clear their right of ways to the ground.  We trim the trees back from the lines.

Being that we are in an urban area, primarily, we are not able to be as aggressive as Hydro One is.

MR. CLARK:  And one more question on that point, then.  Are these labour -- is this Greater Sudbury labour or is this under contract?

MR. McMILLAN:  Contract cost.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  It appears for transformer maintenance there is a jump-up of $220,000 in '07, and an additional 190 in 2009, which means built into the rates going forward it would be $412,000.

Does that seem reasonable to you?

MR. McMILLAN:  Again, we will have to undertake to look that information up and give you a response.

MR. CLARK:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  Harold, we might want to just mark these so that people are keeping track of them.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Do you want to define them?

MR. CLARK:  Sure.  Undertaking No. 1 would be to report back on the $300,000 for the control room costs in 2009, and Undertaking No. 2 would be the same, to report back on the $412,000 that has been built into transformer maintenance since 2006.
Undertaking No. 1:  To report back on the $300,000 for the control room costs in 2009.
Undertaking No. 2:  To report back on the $412,000 built into transformer maintenance since 2006.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you mind if I interject?  Would you be agreeable to going off the record for a minute?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.

--- (Off record discussion)

MR. THIESSEN:  Shall we then take a half-hour break, and come back at about 10:30?

DR. HIGGIN:  Then you can report back where you are.  If you are not quite there, we will...

--- Recess taken at 10:04 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:34 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right, then, if we are ready to resume, Christie had some questions that were going to be asked

MR. CLARK:  Yes, we will back up.  There were two undertakings, one concerning clarification of the line 3, control room costs, and the other question was line 4, transformer maintenance.

Are you prepared to answer that now or does that remain an undertaking?

MR. REEVES:  Do you want me to go ahead or -- what we have done is tried to reconstruct this so that we could show the components that make up the difference between your column 4 and column, you know, 2008.

The prior years, the changes were in inflationary, 3.4 per cent.  The other thing that we would like everyone to be aware of is that we had a strike in 2004, and so 2006, which is based on the 2004 financials, is a bit erratic compared to normal years.  We had an 18-week strike.

So we have produced a new document that shows, line by line, the cost changes between 2008, 2009.  Those would be the cost drivers, which is much more detailed than this particular sheet.

MR. THIESSEN:  Would you like me to photocopy that and hand it out?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, please.

MR. CLARK:  While that is being photocopied, there are a couple of questions still on this table I would like to ask that don't pertain to the '08/09 change, and one would be line 7, future benefit interest.

Could you explain what that interest is?  And also, according to what I have produced on this, you can see that there appears to be still, in column 5, roughly 1.1 million of interest built in.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We will answer this jointly, and I will ask Nancy to step in as soon as I stray.

But the interest that we're referring to is specifically with respect to future benefits.  It's a provision that we have in our financial statements.  If you looked at our actuals over the course of the year, you will see a line in our operating expenses, and in 2008 it was about $950,000 or thereabouts.

This is our best estimate of providing that same provision, but the point that we want to make is that it's outside the scope of the application.  It doesn't form part of the rate base or part of the OM&A expenditures, as such.  It is outside of it.

It is there for information purposes.  It's our best estimate as to what our liability will be when we go through our next review and evaluation period, which is due every three years on the cycle.  But it is definitely outside the scope of the application, there simply for information reasons, because it is such a large number, and it refers back to the 5 million extraordinary charge that we do see on that three-year period.  Nancy?

MS. WHISSELL:  Our actual interest expense is about 4.8 or 4.9, and some of it, as Stan indicated, almost a million, is that future pension benefit interest, but in the application our deemed interest is 3 million, and that further just affirms it's not part of the application.  We only have actual benefit costs included.

MR. CLARK:  If it's not part of the application, then why is it entered showing the changes from 2005 actuals to the closing at line 17 of the 2006 actuals?

MS. WHISSELL:  We would kind of like to withdraw this table, actually, column 1, 2 and 3.  Column 4 being the net change, the 1.578363, is what's being copied, but when I did this table, I basically looked at our actual statements versus the 2006 EDR rate application, and I picked out major highlights as opposed to perhaps a bottom-line item.  And when we did the rate application, we looked at these variances.

I will direct your attention to the bottom totals of column 1 and column 3.  From 2006 actual, we went from 9.5 to 10.2, which does indicate it is about 3.4 percent a year.  Any of those items above are kind of misnomers.

Our 2006 rate application was based on a 2004 actual.  With the strike, our OM&A was kind of meaningless, and then our actual audited statements, we did have the future pension benefit interest item there.

And rightly or wrongly, I've highlighted these amounts which, to me, they cannot be added across.  I would look at the bottom totals, only, and look for drivers year over year as a percentage, and then look at your 2008 versus 2009, again, because I said, Yeah, here's my audited statements, here's my opening, here's my closing.  This is a large item, but it's not impacting the rate application.

That's what I am saying I think column 1, 2 and 3 are very misleading.

MR. CLARK:  Well, then I just have one more question in those three columns.  I just want to confirm that the following line below, which is the future -- the actuarial loss on the future benefits, have definitely been removed.  It appears they have been removed -- they have been removed.

MS. WHISSELL:  It was an anomaly because it was in our statements one year and not the next, so --

MR. CLARK:  I understand.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.  The new table that you just filed, I think we will give it a number, TC-4, and I will give you an opportunity to address this.
EXHIBIT NO. TC-4:  Updated OM&A COST table.


MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  So if you want to talk about cost drivers, permanent or not -- which I think is the thrust of what your question is, really; right?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, it is.

MR. McMILLAN:  Let's talk at the top of this table with the operations supervising and engineering.  And, again, rightly or wrongly, we put the two apprentices that we have hired in there.  And apprentices -- apprentices are a group that we are going to require -- we are seeing the baby boomer thing happening.  We are seeing -- myself, I can go in three years.  It might be longer; I haven't made up my mind.  I've got operations supervisors and superintendents that are in the exact same boat.  And you can see where we are going to have to start stepping up with people moving in.

So we made the decision we are going for some apprentices to be able to fill our line trades from the bottom up.  There is a report out there that you can look up on the Internet.  The Canadian Electricity Sector Council has reported the number of shortages of -- the skill shortages that we are going to face.

We have seen it -- anecdotally, when we went out for linemen postings into the marketplace in the '80s, we would typically get -- Doug, 800 applicants?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  Last time we went out we had two -- two qualified applicants come back.  So what's happening now is I am stealing from you, you are stealing from him, he will steal from somebody else, and once we start to get some young people into this business -- but it's going to cost, because it's on-the-job training.  They are inefficient at what they do when they first arrive.  They gain efficiency over the four years that they go through their apprenticeship.

I think most people who are in this industry would tell you you don't really get yourself a fully qualified journey line person for eight years.  You don't really get that full productivity until that point.

So we have hired two, and we expect to hire -- I think there is a table in the filing, the original filing, which was revised on interrogatories.  I don't recall the number.  But there is a table in there in the capital asset management plan showing the number of line people, apprentice linemen, who we want to hire.

So that's going to be ongoing for the next number of years we see that extra expense.  We don't know when the other people are going to come off the payroll, because they are -- they have their rights as to when they choose to retire or when they choose not to retire.

So our best guess is we are going to lose some people over the next three, four, five years, but we couldn't tell you how many or when.  That's their personal choice.

So the apprentices are sitting there, and I would call them permanent for the purposes of the rate application until our next submission.  Okay, going down to --

MR. CLARK:  If I may?

MR. McMILLAN:  Sure.

MR. CLARK:  Which line and column was that?

MR. McMILLAN:  I am sorry, I am starting on the first line, 50 -- like, it's universal --

MS. WHISSELL:  We lumped them in there.

MR. McMILLAN:  -- system of account 5005, far right, 183,000.

MR. CLARK:  This is printed backwards.

MR. McMILLAN:  Oh, sorry.

MR. CLARK:  My page 2 is your page 1.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  My page 1 starts with 183,700, top right.  Okay, so those are the apprentices.

Moving down to load dispatching, in the -- and this is part of that 300,000 that you had in as control room.  Okay, coming out of the strike in 2004, we had five people in the control room, and that's a number that you need to maintain, a viable 7-by-24 rotation.  If you lose one, you kind of -- you just don't have enough hours to make it work.

We had a fellow quit out of that strike.  We went through about a -- a period of time, and, I am sorry, I don't know the exact number.  It was probably eight months, and could have been up to a year, where we went with four operators, and we ran on a 5-by-24.  Weekends weren't manned, and we had an operator on call.

It was very ineffective.  We found it was created a lot of problems in our operating, and what you have to try to visualize or understand is, in our system -- in many systems, many distribution companies, the line crews are the operators.  They understand.  They have their maps available.  They understand switching operations.  They do the switching.  It's called trade administered.

In our system, it's a controlling authority.  So we have taken all the maps away from the trucks.  We don't provide the training to them.  We don't want them to think about what they need to switch, when they need to switch.  We want them to establish communication with the controlling authority for safety purposes.

So in 2006 or thereabouts, we saw an opportunity to perhaps look at control room operations as not just our group, but perhaps we could do some control room operations for some other companies, as well, because in the market rules there is a stipulation that if you own a grid-connected facility, you have to have it on -- you have to have a body or someone available with 10 minutes' notice for the IESO to be able to get that -- to do something with that, to switch it out, to put it in, to do whatever needs to be done.

And a number of the smaller utilities who are getting into transformer stations, which are grid-connected facilities, don't have 7-by-24 staff.  So we brought back in an operator, a fifth operator, went back to 7-by-24, but we have put the cost for that fifth operator in the Plus company, not in the hydro company at that time, thinking that we would be offsetting it with some revenues from outsourcing some of this work.

We weren't very successful at that.  We got one contract with Norfolk.  And so in this year, we have put that body back in to our base rates.  So that body is not physically a new body, but it's a cost that was moved out; now moved back.  That's what we did.  So that's the $88,000.

Stations, building and fixtures, 5012, the $35,000, we have asked for a new substation electrician, and, again, two rationales for that.  We had a consultant, and we submitted the consultant's substation report in the original application, and in that report you will find evidence that our substations are not being maintained to the degree to which they should.  So we needed to staff up to be able the support that.  That's part of that expense there.  We see that as permanent, ongoing.

Again, a second factor is our most elder substation electrician, in the foreseeable future, if you look at a possibility of not finding a qualified person having to go to an apprentice for this position, eight-year window, yeah, it's viable that he could be gone within that eight-year window, or shortly thereafter.  And that would be something that we would be looking at.

If we move down to the $72,558, distribution station equipment operation labour, again, same scenario.  That's an increase.  That's a new person.  That's where their labour is going, the new substation electrician, permanent.

The $1,000 I am going to skip.

MR. CLARK:  I was going to say anything under $50,000 is fine with me.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay with me.

MR. CLARK:  I think if the intervenors want more detail, they can --

MR. McMILLAN:  You just want the $50,000-up sort of picture at this point; would that be acceptable to everyone?

MR. CLARK:  That's fine with me.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  So skip down to, then, overhead distribution transformers operations, $188,972.  Again, most of that is contract labour to do with PCB clean-up, okay?

Permanent, ongoing, probably about a three-year window.  We feel we have about 100 units left in Sudbury.  We are testing West Nipissing, because they never did any PCB testing.  So we are unclear of how many units we have to get rid of there.

The historic number runs about 10 percent, so they have about 300, 400 transformers.  We expect to find 30 to 40 units there that need to be cleaned up.  That is the kind of number we are looking at here.

That number is contractor, basically, costs to go out and change the transformers, because in the uniform system account, you can only capitalize the installation of a transformer once.  You cannot capitalize it again.  If you've got to take it down to replace it for PCBs, it's an operation expense.

So I would say permanent, quasi-permanent.  There is three years of expense there, and then it stops, three, four years, depending on how quickly we get it down.  I got to tell you we are no different than anybody else in this world.  The remaining 100 transformers are the worst locations, the worst places, the most difficult to get to, the hardest to deal with.

All right.  Underground distribution transformers operation, $62,000, same thing.  It's dealing with the PCBs for that cycle of probably three years.

Customer premises, $72,000, I love the way the uniform system account does not jive with my vision of the world.  In my world, I am not certain exactly what that is.  I would need to caucus with my colleagues here to get a clear picture of what that is.

MR. CLARK:  It's amazing how accountants can make it difficult to get work done.

MR. McMILLAN:  All right.  In our locates, we brought locates -- we did locates; contracted them out at one time.  They came back in-house and I think that was outside the scope of where we are with this.  I think they were back into house by 2004.


But what we have done is one of the people in our GIS group -- we have three people in our GIS, AMFM mapping group, and they have been charged with the task of dealing with the locates.

So all of our calls go to the 1-800 one-call phone number, but they then fax us - or perhaps e-mail, but I think it's fax - a ticket, they call it, that says, Okay, Chris has made application to do some work around his house and he needs a locate, and somebody has to go deal with that.


And this person is the person that tracks that in our system, and her costs were sitting in GIS mapping for the longest time, which I understand is an overhead; correct?  And we moved those costs directly into operations.  There is no new person here.  There is just the costs that come in out of the overhead burdens and into the OM&A.


Maintenance of distribution station equipment, 5114, $104,307.  Again, you are seeing that substation electrician we are proposing to hire.  You are seeing his labour or her labour, as the case may be, distributed across one of the cost centres.  This is one of the cost centres, and this is resulting from the study of Costello, which indicates that we need to do more maintenance on our substations to be where we should be.

And I think that ends my two sections.  Again, I would see that as permanent.

MR. CLARK:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Moving on to billing and collecting, the major categorization being in line 5315 in customer billing, all of those costs are associated with the new SAP customer information system that we're implementing, and it's basically an invoice from the supplier of those services and will be a permanent charge going forward.

It's our allocation of the cumulative costs of the three parties that are partners in that endeavour.

Under community relations, we have something called energy conservation for $187,000 of variance, and what that is, it's reporting and reflecting our commitment to the conservation and demand management programs.  It was subject to a separate application.  There is an offsetting revenue stream under other distribution revenues for an equal amount.  So it's an in-and-out transaction, but it had to be reflected as part of the utility's commitment, as I said.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can I just ask you?  The total budget that's shown for energy efficiency, CDM, is in a number of places, but, anyway, Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 15 in Appendix A.

Anyway, you are showing $745,000 as the 2009 budget for that.  Just can you take me, then -- how much of that is being charged to ratepayers and what -- are there any offsetting recoveries which -- say from OPA, particularly, OPA?  So what is net net?  What is ratepayer actually paying for CDM directly through rates as opposed to OPA?  Have you got any ideas?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  My answer is going to be in this rate application there are no expenditures for conservation and demand management programs, as such.  There was a separate application filed.

DR. HIGGIN:  That is what I thought, yes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There is a separate revenue stream for it, and it's that --

DR. HIGGIN:  But you are showing an expense here of $187,000.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  But I am also showing in other distribution revenue an offsetting amount of revenue for 187, so it's an exact mirror of the 187.  So it's an in-and-out transaction.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  And bottom line is there is no net cost for ratepayers of the 2009 CDM?  It's all through OPA?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  We have a specific application that was before the Board that was approved, and there is a rate impact.  We have a rider on our rates specifically for CDM, and it was implemented on May the 1st of last month as a rider, okay?

So it's not OPA as such.  It's funded locally within the community.

MS. WHISSELL:  It's not in the 2009 rate application, is what he is saying.  It was a separate rate application that was filed.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, and I know you do have a rate rider.  But I had assumed wrongly - sorry, I don't know why - that this was -- also included recoveries from OPA, that it is net, if you like, net of any recoveries.

MR. REEVES:  Well, we have two sources of funding for CDM.  One is that we are running the standard OPA programs, you know, the great refrigerator roundup, and so on.  We are running all of those programs.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  They are all listed here, yes.

MR. REEVES:  And, as Stan said, last year we made an application to the OEB specifically for Sudbury CDM programs, which were approved, and there is rate riders in place over the next three-year period.

DR. HIGGIN:  So where is the OM&A, then, related to that?  Where is that listed?  That is what I am puzzled about.

MR. REEVES:  All of our CDM costs are covered by the CDM programs, whether it be OPA- or OEB-approved programs.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, but there is an OM&A expense for running those programs; correct?  It's not under this line item.  You have just told me it's not under that.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  We are looking at that as a stand-alone application and stand-alone accounting under the auspices of that application.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So it's not part of the 2009 revenue requirement?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. REEVES:  No.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, that's in place already.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  My understanding - and correct me, please, if I am wrong - you have OPA funding included in your costs, but they're offset as revenue offsets, leaving zero in the revenue requirement.

You have your stand-alone application as a rider, and you have a variance account or deferral account on that, and those, too, are not in your revenue requirement?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, I have got it now.  Thank you.  Thanks for that.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Nancy, has it come to you -- what we are doing with line 2, management salaries and expenses?

MS. WHISSELL:  No, it hasn't.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  You will have to give me a break on the first 88,000 on line 5610, and it will come to me in a minute or two.

Under regulatory expenses, the charges are basically for the external advisors that with have used in preparation for this application.  Those are actual billings.

Miscellaneous general expenses, just an accumulation of all kinds of wonderful things that we do, and it ties in in some fashion with 5675, maintenance of our general plant and expenditures.

Snow loads, just general maintenance requirements around our plant have resulted in those, and there is various buckets that we are speaking about, and individually they are all small-dollar items.

MS. WHISSELL:  But it's outside services employed.  We don't use that account, outside services.  We embed it in, basically, to --

MR. CLARK:  These, then, would be snow removal contractors and gardeners?

MS. WHISSELL:  Building maintenance, audit fees.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  fence repairs are a big item for us; outside security.  I think that covers it off.

MR. CLARK:  I think so.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just ask a quick question on regulatory expenses?  So that $65,000 is expected to be a permanent ongoing expense?  So is that a one-time, or that --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We are expecting this process to complete -- after this application is complete, we are starting our next, as well.  So we believe that we will require that amount of external --

MS. SEBALJ:  So $65,000 annually over the IR period?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

MR. CLARK:  Well, maybe that's a nice segue into looking at regulatory expenses, which are on TC-3, which is your response to Board Staff's interrogatory 24.


And just to recap, you're showing on TC-4 a $65,000 increase, and underpinning that increase, I am assuming, are the numbers that are found in the bottom of your interrogatory response at TC-3 on the second from the right column, where it starts with 2009 test year, 158,000, 100,000, 65,000, for a total of 323,010 (sic?); is that correct?  In fact, that total ties right into what you have on TC-4, $323,100?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CLARK:  And you are saying that hearing costs of $100,000 would be ongoing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Once every three years, definitely, and then our general participation in other hearings that transpire over the course of the years, as well.

MR. CLARK:  What I am looking for is a reasonable estimation of what that cost should probably be for the next four years, since you probably won't be back in for rebasing in four years.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's a guesstimate on our part, so...

MR. CLARK:  I am not criticizing.  I am just asking.  The same would be for the legal costs, $65,000?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  You think your IRMs would be just as expensive?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Our rationale behind that, and needing advice for IRMs, are that our capital requirements, we don't know what the outcomes are going to be here today.  And under the provisions for extraordinary capital and capital out of the norm, we feel that we might be needing some external resources in that area to help us along, because the is vision that, as has Brian has expressed, that our capital requirements are relatively significant over the next four years.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.  I have one question about bad debt.  In Interrogatory 21, you suggested that you wanted -- it might be wise to change what you have built in your revenue requirement of $165,000, and then I seem to recall reading somewhere that you were comfortable with that, but I couldn't find that reference.

So I just wanted to address this and get your statement on the record, as a final statement, how you feel about the $165,000 for bad debt?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, as our universe unfolds here -- it is a dynamic world, and we are noticing changes, and our dunning calls and those kinds of things are going up, obviously a sign of the economy.

But we have had that debate internally and we are prepared to let the 165 stand within this application and not adjust it.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.

And by way of clarification, because I am still not clear on what was in Board Staff's -- oh, actually, I think if we go back to your originally filed evidence, Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 6, if you have that?  If not, I can provide you with a copy.

Yes, it's Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 6, page 2 of 4, and there is a table there, table 3.  It seems obvious to me in this that we simply have tables labelled incorrectly, now that I don't have it.

[Laughter]


MR. CLARK:  The top line, the third box down, you call it total compensation, and then from there on down you talk about average yearly.  And if I add those up, I end up with the total compensation.

So are you not really talking about a compensation total, total base wage and total overtime and total incentives, instead of average.

MS. KOSKI:  That's correct, yes.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.  And that keeps the record clear, thanks.  Those are my questions.

MR. THIESSEN:  I think Mr. Mather has some questions now.  Do you have an estimate now of how long it might take?

MR. MATHER:  I would be very pleased if we were done in a half an hour, but then I don't really know.

MR. THIESSEN:  Does everyone feel comfortable going another half-hour before we break for lunch?  Is that all right?
Questions by Mr. Mather:

MR. MATHER:  The current rates -- now, rates that are currently in place in West Nipissing are the identical rates that have been there since 2005; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, sir.

MR. MATHER:  And those rates include a component of regulatory asset rate rider as of back then?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And that's been in place ever since?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  There is an RSVA and a non-RSVA component.

MR. MATHER:  Thanks.  Now, table 8B in your application -- don't look it up.  I am not going to ask a question.

Table 8A is what the rates would be if they were uniform, and 8B and C are what you are proposing, which would be for 2009, and then the proposal is that in 2010 the rates would be uniform across the whole territory, and those rates would resemble what's in table 8A, but with an IRM, presumably, plus whatever else happens in the meantime in the dynamic world that's been referred to?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. MATHER:  Okay, thank you.  Part of what I am going to try to simplify, I guess, is that you have been exemplary in responding to the various interrogatories that you received, and we have large numbers of impact tables; right?

So I think that I would just like to put on the record which ones of those are current and which ones have maybe been outdated and which ones are -- and what they are proposed for, what they are good for.

The first set of impact tables were with the original application, I think, and then we received another set of impact calculations in fairly rapid order just after that, I guess, didn't we, in January?

And those new ones were simply correcting changes?

MS. WHISSELL:  Correcting the interpretation of the definition of -- what's the word I want -- distribution as opposed to -- I think I had grouped increases incorrectly, and I wanted to specify just the distribution component, which is --

MR. MATHER:  Well, there was a few more lines in the second set, but the outcomes were similar, except maybe there was some corrected rate inputs, too.  Okay, thanks.

Now, in those, a residential customer in West Nipissing, a really small customer would have an impact of above 10 percent total, if we went to straight harmonization, or they would have an impact above 10 percent even under the proposal; am I right about that?

I say a small customer in West Nipissing with the proposal has an impact of about 12 percent total bill.  I am looking at Exhibit 9-1-9, appendix A, page 7, and this is in the revised.

MS. WHISSELL:  I will say, yes, not having it in front of me.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  The print is quite small for a start.  And the impact on the customer in Greater Sudbury is actually 12-1/2 percent.  I think that's on page 1 of the same exhibit.

So the impact for the first year on these really small customers is actually higher in Sudbury than it is in West Nipissing, but in the second year, then, that would turn around, I think?

MS. WHISSELL:  In the second year, it would probably flip.  I believe you are correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Neil, can you give me the reference again so I can put the table in front of the panel?

MR. MATHER:  It's Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 9, and these are in appendix A, and the ones I am looking at now were revised on January the 9th.

Now, the large general service customers, the ones above 50 kilowatts in West Nipissing, a small customer -- or a small customer in that class of 60 kilowatts would have a total bill impact of about 15 percent, or so, in the proposal.  Is that -- I am at page 10 of 12 there.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Now, we then -- I have another set of impact tables which were provided in response to interrogatory -- Staff Interrogatory No. 56, and those were impact tables of if we went full implementation.  Those are straight to uniform rates; is that your recollection of what those were about?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And they were filed on March the 30th, and that's where I am seeing these smaller impacts for the customer in Sudbury and larger impact for the customer in West Nipissing.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  So going to this quite small residential customer, the two-year impact, give or take some IRM, would be about 20 percent - I am reading 19.47 percent - on this really small customer in West Nipissing if we went to full harmonization, rather than this two-stage process; does that sound right?

I am on page -- it's hard to say what page I am on.  They were not numbered, but it is in response to --

MS. WHISSELL:  It sounds about right.

MR. MATHER:  You can correct this.  You know, if you want to go back and look at these things later and put a correction out there, that would be fine, too.

The customer in West Nipissing, the general service higher than 50-kilowatt customer, has an impact with full harmonization of almost 30 percent total bill over the two years; does that sound right?

I am reading 29.28 percent through my bifocals here, and that's the full harmonization scenario.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  Nipissing's general service over 50 rates were significantly lower than Sudbury Hydro, so, yes.

MR. MATHER:  And that impact is the result of some quite unusual rate design in West Nipissing; is that what your generalization would be?  I see various people nodding their heads.

The charge for a customer above 50 kilowatts at this moment is about $30.32 monthly service charge and a kilowatt rate of $0.55 per kilowatt in West Nipissing, and has been since 2005?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  So then going to -- if one were to go to uniform rates, then the $30 goes to 175, and the $0.55 goes to $4.69?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And that makes for 600-and-some percent increase on distribution alone.

Now, we then have another set of impact tables, and they were done in response to the Consumers Council of Canada Supplementary Interrogatories No. 6.

And as I understand those impacts, they have smaller increases in the monthly service charge, and you, I think, answered these questions sort of under protest saying there was no way you were adopting these as impacts.

But they do have the effect of having a smaller impact on the small residential customer and presumably a higher impact on larger customers, because the monthly service charge would be less in those scenarios?

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe the question was:  What kind of mitigation would we have to do to bring it below the 10 percent, and that's what we attempted to provide.

MR. MATHER:  So residential was roughly a buck a month or a buck-and-a-half, something like that?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And there were -- various other sets of impact tables around that I think have been supplanted by those four sets that I just discussed, I think.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Okay, that's actually -- those are easy questions; right?  It's partly a page-flipping exercise, and I am sorry for how much paper there is, but I think it will be helpful to everybody to be able to look at fewer of them.

Now, the rate history in West Nipissing we've discussed a bit.  In -- Harold, we received correspondence -- we told Sudbury that we were going to ask them certain questions, and they have sent us something in e-mail as of last Friday or so.

Does everybody have a copy of that, or are we going to --

MS. WHISSELL:  I did only forward it to Harold.

MR. MATHER:  Yes.  He has photocopies here.  I have pilfered a copy for myself, but --

MR. THIESSEN:  We can label this Exhibit TC-5, which is Board Staff question on deferral and variance accounts.
EXHIBIT NO. TC-5:  Board Staff question on deferral and variance accounts.

MR. MATHER:  This information was very helpful, I thought, and it saved us a second round of Supplementary interrogatories.  I am not sure if they would have done that forever or not, but it's helpful to have on the record.

I am going to start at the 1(b), which was a question that said:
"If each distribution rate, not including regulatory assets, had been changed by the same percentage amount in West Nipissing as elsewhere, as in Greater Sudbury, what would those rates have turned out to be?"

And I think the answer to that is on the very last page, on the fifth page of this package, and --

MS. WHISSELL:  I will say the second last page.

MR. MATHER:  Second from last page?


MS. WHISSELL:  It's the schedule that's very small.

MR. MATHER:  Oh, yes, okay.  And then -- and then C --

MS. WHISSELL:  Where you have 11.62 to 13.29.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  Yes, yes, okay.  Sorry.  And then C is the one that I am coming to eventually.  Second from last page, page 4.

So what that's telling us, then, is that in West Nipissing, the current rates are, for residential, 11.62 a month, and then 1.17 cents per kilowatt-hour, and of the 1.17 cents, the first item there, 0.00863, is sort of the normal distribution charge, and then an adder for PILs and a rebate, and an adder in two different components for regulatory assets.  And that's what survives ever since 2005.

MS. WHISSELL:  And in the 2008 column, for clarification, where you have the 0.01032, that would be representative of a distribution charge in the PILs only, because we would assume that the regulatory charges would go away May 1st.

And we have added in the smart meter charge that has never been applied to West Nipissing, and they have low voltage costs and we have added Sudbury's rate there, as well.

MR. MATHER:  As a group, we suspect that that never got in to 2005, the low voltage component?

MS. WHISSELL:  It was not in 2005.

MR. MATHER:  Even though they were embedded then the same as now.

MS. WHISSELL:  But the Hydro One approvals for the low voltage did not come through until the 2006 rate application --

MR. CLARK:  Because of the rate application.

MS. WHISSELL: -- where we could apply on the regulatory assets, yes, exactly.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  Now, the curious thing to me on that page is the general service greater than 50 kilowatts. We have talked about the 3032 before.  The two components of the RSV -- well, of the regulatory assets, the RSVA and the non-RSVA, the rebate for RSVA exceeds the charge for the non-RSVAs, and so those customers throughout this period, then, have been getting a rebate for regulatory assets; is that right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, sir.

MR. MATHER:  And that's true of the general service interval meter.  Is that a single customer?

MS. WHISSELL:  It's the same.  I just split them out for our own in-house purposes.

MR. MATHER:  So everyone else was paying towards the regulatory assets, but those customers were in fact getting money back throughout that period?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Just future reference, then, if one were to settle up in West Nipissing for regulatory assets alone, you have been good enough to calculate rate riders that would do that, and I noticed that they would be charged a regulatory asset rate rider, and everybody else in West Nipissing would be get money back in that scenario; is that right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  It was an attempt to make up what was flowback, yes.

MR. MATHER:  Yes, I sympathize totally.

Now, as far as question 1(c), then, that was the question that said how much money has been -- has not been generated in West Nipissing by virtue of leaving the distribution rates unchanged.

And the importance of these two numbers on page 5, then, is that basically it's $133,000 that would have been collected in from customers within West Nipissing if they would have had distribution rates increased?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MATHER:  And something less than that in the intervening years, presumably.  The 133 is in 2008, so it would have been $100,000 a year before?

MS. WHISSELL:  Probably most of it would have occurred in the 2006 rate application, because 2007 was a very minor IRM adjustment, and 2008 actually was a slight reduction.  So most of it would have been there since 2006.

MR. MATHER:  So if we were cumulating numbers over that whole period, then, you know, I am not saying we should do this calculation, but we are looking at a quarter of a million dollars, something like that?

MS. WHISSELL:  That would be reasonable.

MR. MATHER:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Neil, can you clarify?  Are you looking at page 5 when you give that 133,000 number?

MR. MATHER:  Yes.  In my head, I subtracted nine-eighty-eight from --

MS. SEBALJ:  Eight-fifty-five.

MR. MATHER:  Yes, eight-fifty-five from nine-eighty-eight.

Okay, changing the subject totally, transmission costs in Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 3.  I don't think you need to look this up, particularly, but you've listed there the rates that you used to calculate what your transmission costs will be.

And I notice that you have for the trans -- for the IESO component, you're right up to date, and for the portion that you would be paying to Hydro One Distribution, your host distributor, you have used rates that were in effect when you would have prepared this application.

But there are, in fact, two rounds out of date, you will be alarmed to know.  I am not going to suggest that we do anything about this for the purposes of preparing for a settlement, but there was a rate order issued yesterday, in fact, for approving these new rates, and they are somewhat similar, where you have assumed 231 approved is 224 for network service, and similarly for the other two amounts.

My suspicion is that by the time one does the calculation for your RTSRs, that it may make no difference whatsoever, but if we were to actually go the whole distance on the written submissions and the decision and all that kind of thing, we would no doubt ask if you would confirm that the various RTSR rates would be unchanged.

LV, a related topic, low voltage, LV, I notice that in response to VECC Interrogatory No. 29, you've refined the estimate of -- or the forecast of the total cost from 224 to $160,000 for the year?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  And the 160, the revenue equals the expense and the application, so that the net impact is a nil.  The $224,000 included the incorrectly-included catch-up charges from Hydro One, so it was removed.

MR. MATHER:  So it was sort of out of the single year estimate?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  There have also been two sets of rates for LV, in the meantime, since you have prepared this, and the latest rate order dated yesterday changes -- but the numbers were known longer than that -- changes a number of -- well, changes all of the rates that you have got here.

Just let me confirm.  The rate 0.633, that's for shared line, what used to be called shared line, I would think.

And you also have specific line from somewhere in West Nipissing, I take it?

MS. WHISSELL:  Also within the Greater Sudbury area we have embedded plant in the Capreol and Nickel Centre areas, and we pay specific line charges there, as well.

MR. MATHER:  And you have a shared DS, as well, somewhere, I take it?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  For the purposes of whatever your discussions are over the next few days, if I were to tell you that if I were to put in the new rates in where you have put in those rates, that you would get approximately $110,000 instead, does that sound believable to you, the two --

MS. WHISSELL:  I would have to go through the calculations, but...

MR. MATHER:  The $0.63 is now approved at 55.  The 5.26 has gone up, but the cost of the DS, which you have in here at 2.12, has gone down to something like $1.20 or so.  I can give you those numbers.

Other decisions require that to be -- to be brought right up to date, and the Hydro One --

MS. WHISSELL:  It is, actually.  People tell me I don't talk very loud.  The final rate application would reflect the new rates.

MR. MATHER:  Sure, sure.  And if it's other than 109,426, then I will be interested to know why.

So I think the reason that I bring it up here is that we have had some fairly hefty impacts on some of those small customers, but there will be no change, I think, on the transmission rates.  The LV costs would go down a bit, and the impacts would go down a bit correspondingly, if we had a totally up-to-date set of impacts, I believe.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  We had a question about that, as well, as you will see.  So I guess for purposes of tomorrow's -- today/tomorrow's discussions, the impact is about $50,000.  That would be round numbers.

MR. MATHER:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  It would be a reduction to the revenue requirement of about that much.  Okay, thank you.

MR. MATHER:  Last topic, regulatory assets and rate riders and so on.  Your application still stands, I think, which is that you would choose not to settle up on the regulatory assets in this application and do that some other time?  That's what the application is still, I take it?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And the impact tables that we talked about at the beginning assume no regulatory assets going forward -- no regulatory asset rate riders?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. MATHER:  Okay.  In response to Staff's Supplementary Interrogatory 21(c), I think you've responded that if you did settle up regulatory assets, you would want to do that by way of uniform rate riders across the entire territory, and bygones would be bygones as far as who has paid what up until that point?

MS. WHISSELL:  It is one service territory now, so that would be our intent.

MR. MATHER:  That would be your preferred approach if you were to settle with regulatory assets being -- balances being disposed of?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, sir.

MR. MATHER:  You were good enough, in response to Supplementary Interrogatory 22, to humour us and say, Even though we haven't applied for it, nevertheless if we settled up, here is what the rate riders would be.

And so in response -- yes, that's interrogatory 22.

MS. WHISSELL:  Could you please clarify what the question is for 22?  Is it just for West Nipissing?

MR. MATHER:  No, that's the one across the board, as I understand it.  So there is a total balance of 3-million-and-some to be rebated to the customers.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And that includes rebating something like $566,000 that's been over-collected already in 1590?  That's my understanding of that number.  I will get to it in a subsequent one.

Just so that we are all clear, if it were a uniform rate rider across the territory, it would be a -- rate riders, if we settle only deferral accounts -- if we dispose of only deferral accounts, but with a bunch of RSVA accounts, that's where we get to 3-million-and-some, and all of the classes would have a substantial rebate?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  And the residential, for example, would be 0.318 cents per kilowatt-hour, according to this?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Now, you were also good enough, in response to Supplementary Interrogatory 21(b), to supply us with information on West Nipissing alone.

We have already talked about the fact that many of those customers were sending in money for quite a little while on a rate rider that was approved four or five years ago.

If I understand the response to 21(b), we are saying that the customers of West Nipissing alone are in a credit balance, would get money back of some $86,000, and your calculation is that if you did that over two years, it would be 43,000-and-some that would be returned to them if you were settling with West Nipissing alone?

MS. WHISSELL:  If you looked at that in isolation.  And account 1590 for West Nipissing is in a credit balance, because we never transferred the balances via the 2006 rate application, where Sudbury did.  So you had that debit transfer in offset by the credit.

West Nipissing, because we never did the transfer, we just have the credit building, but, yes, that's the calculation that we gave you.

MR. MATHER:  And just to be a little bit repetitive, the rebate for residential customers there would be 3.29 cents per kilowatt-hour, and that's virtually identical to the uniform one that -- if you were to do it uniformly, is that -- that's a coincidence, I assume?

MS. WHISSELL:  Sounds perfect.

MR. MATHER:  Yes.  There wasn't some artifice behind --

MS. WHISSELL:  No, it just worked out that way.

MR. MATHER:  And what I had mentioned before is that the customers there who had been getting that rebate all along would -- again, if you were to settle up, would be paying $1.46 per kilowatt for a couple of years to square up for the money that they were rebated already, I take it?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Again, I am looking at numbers here but...

So just to summarize all of that, the residential customers in either place would be kind of indifferent as to whether we squared up these things right away or later, and whether we squared them up separately for the two service territories or uniformly.

But the industrial customers would be not disinterested in whether that happened one way or the other, at all, I think.  The larger customers in West Nipissing get quite a good deal if they have had a rebate all along, and then in the uniform settling up would continue to get a rebate for the next two or three years?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Not large bucks, but aggravating to other people?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. MATHER:  Now, given that West Nipissing is in a credit situation as far as the regulatory assets is concerned, but your proposal for harmonization puts something like $300,000 into their pocket over the course of one year, as you harmonize over two years instead of just one, then these things sort of even out at some kind of a high level.  Is that -- my intuition right there?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's fair.

MR. MATHER:  But within the happy family within West Nipissing, that is not quite so even-handed as that, in the sense that the large customers would win there, and the residential customers would be not getting as large a rebate as they would have otherwise?

We are dealing with a lot of different hypothetical situations.

MS. WHISSELL:  You are.  It would be nice if I had the numbers in front of me.

MR. MATHER:  If anything shows up where I have led you down the garden path, then please tell us either on the record or somehow.

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

MR. MATHER:  Those are my questions.  How's my estimate of a half an hour?

MR. THIESSEN:  Excellent.  Shall we break for lunch, then?

DR. HIGGIN:  Just one thing as we do.  I think it might be helpful if -- some of our questions are in writing.  I have also marked off those that have been answered, so it might be useful to the applicants, at least, and anybody else who is interested, if you would make a copy for the applicant.

You can look through our questions and be more prepared when you come back, if that would perhaps be helpful.  All of them are not, and, as it says on the note here, some of these are verbal questions to clarify some of the IR responses, but quite a number are, okay?

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  I will make a copy of that, and then shall we get back together at quarter to 2:00?  Is that satisfactory?

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:42 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:54 p.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  I think we are ready to go.  Again, we are ready to go with Roger's questions from VECC.
Question by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Just if you would set aside for a moment the written paper, I have about three questions of clarification on other areas, and then we will move on to those that are on that piece of paper that was copied.

So I will try to keep this fairly summary-level.  In a nutshell, we have major concerns about the way in which costs are allocated between the utility and the water services, okay, and how that complies or does not comply with the Board's requirement under the Affiliate Relationships Code.

So that's the context.  Your response to our IRs have always talked about this methodology as the contribution margin methodology, which, in my terms, is kind of incremental costing approach.  It's not a fully allocated costing.  It doesn't include a return on capital and all of the things that would go with fully allocated costing.

So you had discussions with the compliance office about doing a review of that methodology between the family and, I am now saying, within, also, the water service, which is within the utility.

What is this -- can you update me on the status of that?  Board Staff asked you I think an IR just recently:  What would be the next steps with respect to undertaking that review of the allocation of costs among the business operating units, and, in my case, also between water services and the electrical services?  Can you give me an idea of what the status is?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In answer to your question, I am going to say that it's an ongoing process.  We did undergo the review by the compliance office.  A number of questions, a number of restructurings that -- were required.  We executed those, we hope, to the satisfaction of the compliance officer, and we haven't heard back on the negative, so we are assuming that I was very positive.

The one item that remained outstanding revolved around transfer pricing.  It's a complex area.  However, it's combined with the restructuring that's taking place.

In effect, what we've done is we are trying to move towards having a utility corporation with all of its associated staff, and that's being presented as part of Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus servicing the hydro operations.

We have a numbered company, one-six.  It's a competitive company, actually, but we have moved all the personnel associated with those kinds of activities to support competitive activities, and that's whether it be the rental program for the water heaters, the thermal storage program, Agilis networks, telecommunications.

So there are employees that are structured.  The only overlapping area now is what we are referring to as corporate services, and basically under the corporate services umbrella we prepare the financial statements, basically, for those other entities, okay?


So the workload is diminishing out of Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus, as far as supporting those corporations, with the exception of what I just said to you.  And the way things are moving, our world is becoming much more complex, you know, these types of hearings and that.

We, in the past, had a little bit of time, and I think I used the example in one of my responses where I said I have a director of human resources or a coordinator of human resources.  She had a little bit of time that was available, so we thought that we could sell it off to one of those other bodies, and that's where the contribution comes in.

A dollar is a dollar against the rate-paying customer of the utility.  So that's an explanation of that concept.  There were those kinds of minor flexibilities in a number of the departments under the corporate service umbrella.

Well, those things have now tightened up, plus we have physically moved people out where we have separated their activities.  So we are talking, and I am going to say that it's a relatively immaterial amount of dollars, okay, that in effect are pure transferred allocations.  For instance, the 5 percent associated with myself, you know, should it be 6 percent?  Should it be 1 percent of my actual costs?

But it's a tremendous exercise to go through, time and motion studies and those kinds of things, and that's the stage that we are at now.  We are kind of looking to perhaps finesse to negotiate around those aspects of it, but we are committed to undertake exactly those studies to true up those relatively small dollar items.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  So do we -- how do you see us proceeding in this hearing with that issue?  There are two ways we can go.  We can settle on something that would be -- an undertaking for you to undertake the work under agreed parameters for the corporate services and shared services, and also, within that, the allocation between water and utility, electric utility, or we can go to the hearing and elicit information and get the Board to direct that.

Those are the two options that I see, because -- and from our point of view, frankly, it's not a satisfactory status quo.  We can't leave the status quo.

So I will leave that one with you - you don't have to answer it right now - that if you would like to get back to us, if you want that included in the settlement, we are quite happy to discuss that and the terms under which and timing of how you would complete that task.

If you don't, we are quite happy to take it to hearing, and there has been -- BDH North America, for example, did a review for one of the other utilities, as you are very familiar, that the Board accepted, and we asked a lot of questions about that review, but nonetheless the Board accepted it.

So there are options that you have.  So I will leave it with you, then, okay?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, I won't give you a complete response to the question, but it was something that we considered.  We certainly anticipated this area of weakness.  There is a tremendous cost associated with doing that study.

I went out to solicit those prices in preparation, and we are talking about $200,000, and it's not reflected anywhere in this application.

I am doing that waiting thing.  You know, like, I have to have a lot of errors in my corporate services allocated costs to come up with $200,000, you know, and with all due respect, whatever the direction is, we will certainly undertake it, but we do want relief for those dollars if we go the study route, if it's viewed that material of an issue.

DR. HIGGIN:  Anyway, maybe we will bring back to the ADR.  See, we don't find the answers to our questions to be appropriate, and, of course, you have been unable to answer the questions, because you do not have even a spreadsheet method of taking costs to service, allocating them, and so on, to come up with the allocations.

You don't even have that.  So, basically, that's the deficiency that you have allowed it to stand, and so you would accept that deficiency is there.  And we are just saying we don't accept your evidence.  We will -- if need be, we will take it to the hearing.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The record also should reflect in the evidence that there is no mark-up.  There is no profitability or profit aspect between any of these companies for those services.  They are done at what we interpret to be costs, fully allocated costs; however, not of the status that it probably requires.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So we are not questioning your structure or your shared service model.  Having a shared service model may be a very good thing for you.

It's the question of how, then, the shared costs are allocated among all of the entities, including water services, okay?

Okay, so that was a few questions on some of the IRs that you were unable to answer.

The other one that I think is in a big-picture thing is:  Where are you now on the issue that I have raised, which is the use of the best available assumptions for the calculation of the 2007 LRAM?

You are well aware of this issue from our questions, and you actually attached the Board's letters.  Let's just say that we find that, in fact, the Board letters are very clear with respect to how you should calculate the 2007 LRAM using best available assumptions.

You could look up, if you want, the material that you provided in attachment to VECC 36.  You have a narrative, and then behind that you have the Board's key letters that are dealing with the issue.

If you could find that, maybe we will take an undertaking.  Look at it, and the relevant paragraph is on page 4 of the first letter you have attached, which is November 4th, 2008.  And it's under the file EB-2008-0352, and the relevant paragraph is on page 4, and I quote:
"Any third party assessments completed in 2008 would reflect new values, as would the calculation of LRAM, regardless of the input assumptions in place at the time of program delivery."

That's the quote.  If we then go to the next letter that you've attached, which is the more recent, January 27th, 2009, and it says, again, on page 3, and I quote:
"LRAM:  The input assumptions used for the calculation of LRAM should be the best available at the time of the third party assessment referred to in section 7.5."

So we believe -- and we don't agree with you not -- even if you disagree with our assumption, to not answer the question, which was to recalculate the LRAM using those assumptions.  We actually gave you the main assumption for the mass market -- is something that we disagree with, obviously.

You refused to do the calculation, never the mind the point, even if you had said, The caveat is we don't agree with you.

MR. REEVES:  Do you have those, Jodie?

MS. KOSKI:  Yes, I do.

DR. HIGGIN:  The point, anyway, is, again, for the purpose of settlement, think about that issue, and we are quite prepared to take this to hearing.  We expect a favourable decision from the Board for that, and remember best available means that it should apply to the savings that are carried forward for measures installed in 2005, 2006 and 2007.

And we are talking about one particular measure, which is material and very large, and that is CFLs.  We are talking about:  How much does a CFL save?  Is it 104 kilowatt-hours or is it 48?  That's the issue.

MR. REEVES:  I understand that.  Our read of that was that you had to use the methodology that was in place at the time that you made your rate application, and that's the one that we had used.

The revised - and I think it was an adoption of the OPA calculations - wasn't approved until sometime in January 2009.  So that's why we responded the way that we did, because we thought that it had to be the calculation or the methodology that was in place at the time that our rate application was submitted.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, it actually says at the time that the third party evaluation was done.  That's what the Board guideline says, not when the rate application...

MR. REEVES:  But in our case the third party calculation was done, you know, in the fall of 2008.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  And the best available, in our opinion, was the OPA 2007 assumption.

MR. REEVES:  Oh, okay, and our read of it was the OEB did not approve using those until the January letter in 2009.  That's why we stood where we stood.

DR. HIGGIN:  Anyway, so we have an issue, but that's not my issue here.  The first issue is:  Why would you not, then, though, recalculate the LRAM SSM as we requested you in our interrogatory?

MR. REEVES:  Well, you know, I know I am repeating myself.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. REEVES:  We thought we had done it correctly by using the OEB guidelines that were in place at the time of our rate submission.

DR. HIGGIN:  But there is an issue.  We can agree that we may disagree, but we asked for information which was legitimate, which was:  If you use the assumption we gave you, which was the OPA one, what would the LRAM be?

MR. REEVES:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  So you may want to consider the whole thing.  Maybe we should mention that one recent utility agreed with us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not sure we should raise that yet until it's approved by the Board.  I mean, the straightforward question maybe is:  Will you provide a direct answer, the calculation in number 36?  If you will, then we can move on.

MR. REEVES:  We can undertake to do that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that need a number?

DR. HIGGIN:  It does, but I think the question I have is only a question of its utility with respect to the process we are in now.

Can you at least look at -- some back-of-envelope calculation will suffice if you wish to discuss this.

MR. REEVES:  Yes, we can.

DR. HIGGIN:  That will be with caveats that it's not precise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just interrupt Roger?  I am going to ask for the actual calculation to be filed on the record, as well.  It may be that during ADR it will be useful to have a rough estimate, but before we go to hearing, we will need a formal answer to an undertaking.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's a very good point, Jay, that if we do end up going to hearing, we would want the proper one on the record for the Board to consider the positions of us and you to that calculation.

MR. REEVES:  All right.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think for purposes of marking it, just to clarify, the two questions that were given by undertaking have been covered, were they not?

MR. CLARK:  They were covered, that's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Have we given those numbers, 1 and 2?  We may as well just call this one Undertaking No. 3.
UNDERTAKING NO. 3:  To provide complete answer to VECC Interrogatory No. 36.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, and I will just repeat it.  It is provide a complete response to VECC question 36, which is recalculate the 2007 LRAM SSM claims using the OPA EKC - that's every kilowatt counts - 2007 input assumptions for CFLs and provide the revised versions of tables 2 and I think it was 3, yes.  And part A gave you the OPA assumptions.  Thank you.

One last question before I move to the piece of paper.  I think I have a clarification on -- I think I may come back to this one.

MR. McMILLAN:  May I interject just before you go on?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  You did say -- I want to be clear.  The first two undertakings have been relieved by our testimony this morning; is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  That is correct, yes.  I will accept this as response.

MR. McMILLAN:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Just we might as well, while we are on this topic, go to VECC question 38, and it's related.  We believe that we haven't had a complete response to that question.  That question was -- yes, we haven't had a response to parts B to D.  If the CDM programs offered after June 2006 have not impacted on historical usage up to 2008, July, why is Greater Sudbury requesting an LRAM SSM adjustment for these programs for that period?

That was the question, and then whether or not you could provide a schedule that shows exactly how the CDM adjustment values - this is for the load forecast, of course - provide a schedule that sets out the CDM assumptions for 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 in the load forecast, and reconcile those with this particular exhibit, Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 10.

So that's a related question, because the final part of that is provide the schedule with the modified CFL savings as requested by VECC 36.  So that's how the two of them are related.

MS. WHISSELL:  I can offer an exhibit that shows the calculations that we utilized in the load forecast.  I thought I had enclosed it.  We had 3.9 million kilowatt-hours of lost revenue in 2006, and 122,000 --

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I am looking.

MS. WHISSELL:  We looked back and it appears that it wasn't enclosed, but I thought it had been.  And I do see that B, C and D have not been responded to.  We hired a consultant that did the calculations.

And I will be honest, I am not the LRAM SSM expert, but this is the table that was provided to us by the consultant.

DR. HIGGIN:  Are you referring to VECC question 40?

MS. WHISSELL:  C.

DR. HIGGIN:  There was a table provided there on part B of that.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, that looks like exactly it, and I was reading 38 thinking that's what you were asking for.

DR. HIGGIN:  Well, but 38 also could have referred to that, and so you are telling us that we should take the numbers from the response to 40, part B; is that...

MS. WHISSELL:  Does that seem fair to you?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's one calculation, and I also have -- that's a summary calculation, and I actually have the list of the programs that makes up that total.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think that would be very helpful if you could provide that, that underpins the gross amount.

MS. WHISSELL:  What is that question number you are referring to?

DR. HIGGIN:  That's VECC 40, part B.  And the table in here, I think, was the one that I referred to, Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 10.

MR. THIESSEN:  Do you want me to copy them both?

MS. WHISSELL:  I suppose, yes, because it references question 40.

DR. HIGGIN:  I think that will -- probably when we look at it, that will suffice to deal with that issue, we hope.  Okay.

So can we switch, then, to the other questions on our written questions, part 2, because that's the other part?  The first one, the question we are asking is trying to get more information about why you used ten years' data -- not ten years' data, but ten years to create as a model normalization?  Why is ten years appropriate?

That was the question.  You referred us in this question to the fact that in this case Niagara-on-the-Lake and Innisfil had a number of years' data in their regression analysis, and that's probably all they were able to get.  But the question is -- no, this is a methodological question.  What is an appropriate, quotes, normalization period, given there may be some data limitations?

For example, the gas utilities here used to be on a 30-year normalization, and they have now regressed to a 20-year, I think.  Am I right, Jay?  Is it 20 gas utilities?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Twenty years.  So that was the question, and why is ten years particularly a good period for normalization, and how does that compare with the practices of other utilities, for example Hydro One?

MS. WHISSELL:  Based on discussions with our consultant, he did feel that the ten years was reasonable, and we did rely on that information.

Other LDCs have used it and it has been approved, but I do believe, and I am going to ask Brian or perhaps Doug to comment partially here, because I do think as a local distribution company, I do think that we feel ten years or a shorter period of time is more reasonable for our utility.

We had a very large peak back in -- I am guessing here -- back in the '80s, and we went through a period of time where we went -- we had a lot of customers shift load and our patterns totally changed.

I think the ten-year pattern is more reflective of our very flat, low-low growth organization, and I wouldn't mind deferring to either Brian or Doug.

But to go to a broader period it would skew, because we do have very different patterns, if you go further back.  We had a peak of -- I want to say 210 megs or 210, and it -- 202 megawatts way back, and it's dropped significantly.

MR. McMILLAN:  In the capital asset management plan that was filed as part of the evidence, the initial application -- and I am sorry, I don't have schedules and tabs in front of me, I have the actual study.

In it, we talked about some of the history, and, in the early 1990s -- which would take us back into that 20-year range; correct?  Yes.  We went through a period where -- and I saw this in other -- in another of -- the other northern utility I was in.

When gas was deregulated in the late '80s, early '90s, there was a big shift away from electric heat to gas heat, and some of that shift took place in terms of people would, in order to get gas into your home typically -- they were looking for gas water heaters to replace electric water heaters, but you needed two appliances.

So they would install a gas fireplace and flip off the breakers on their baseboard heaters.  So we saw significant load loss.  We saw loads -- kilowatt-hours sales plummet in the 1990s from 880 gigawatt-hours down to 797 gigawatt-hours in 1998 -- '91 to '98.

That picture is a one-time anomaly.  You just see that happen.  If you went back that far, you are going to see that in this forecast.  I don't think it's representative of anything that ever happened after that single event.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's why the ten years we feel is much more reasonable.

DR. HIGGIN:  We are talking here primarily the driver is weather methodology, heating degree days, cooling degree days.  That's the underlying methodology.

And so, yes, I can accept something like that, a shift that would affect your load forecast dramatically, but we are talking here about weather normalization and the methodology, and what period you should reasonably be using for normal weather.

So I think we shouldn't confuse the two, and I think that that's the question I think we asked is: Why wouldn't a longer period for weather normalization purposes have been appropriate?

MR. McMILLAN:  I think if you were dealing with fundamentally similar underlying heating structures, it might be, but you are not.  People physically shifted their heating loads from electricity to gas en masse in the 1990s in northern Ontario, and it skews the results, I think, fundamentally.

And just trying to weather-correct for someone who physically stops using electricity for water and heating their home and starts using natural gas, it doesn't do it.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, I understand what you saying.  I mean, one of the variables in the regression analysis for the load forecast is heating and cooling degrees.  So we what are saying here, Well, that variable, how do you -- what data set do you use to calculate that variable?

And that's where we are having this -- why we are having this discussion.  The gas utilities have determined, after a lot of up and down, that a 20-year data set was appropriate, and they also have built in a trend, because they think global warming is a reality and there is -- so, anyway, I think you have answered the question.

I guess we can leave it there.  We believe that the appropriate methodology would be somewhat similar to that of Hydro One for the calculation of heating and cooling degree days, that the data set series should be in the order of 20 years.  So we will leave it there, and that's it.  Thank you.  Does Board Staff have anything to add?

MR. CLARK:  I just want to clarify in my mind, because we may have got off into apples and oranges here.

All you are talking about is the data that is required to come up with a forecast of a normalized weather?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  We are not talking average uses?  We are not talking base loads?

DR. HIGGIN:  No.

MR. CLARK:  We are talking about the weather, and from that we would derive our forecast?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.

MS. WHISSELL:  Our cost allocation load forecast was 25 years.  That cost allocation study, Hydro One was 25 years, but our predictive model is ten years.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, your regression equations are -- or model for your load forecast is ten years.

MR. McMILLAN:  But to calculate the coefficients, you would like to use 25 years of weather data?

DR. HIGGIN:  Or some number that was rationally developed, something like Hydro One or something like that, yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  However, we are under the impression that this tool has been approved by the Board in rate applications, despite the fact that, yes, 20 years might be preferable.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  I will leave that one as it is for the moment.

We have dealt with 38.  Moving to VECC 46 --

MS. SEBALJ:  Before you do that, Roger, did you want to mark these?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  I don't know if you want to review them, anyway, but Greater Sudbury has presented two pieces of paper.  One is table 7B and the other is table 3, so can we mark them TC-6 and TC-7, respectively?
EXHIBIT NO. TC-6:  Table 7B.
EXHIBIT NO. TC-7:  Table 3.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that would be good.  They relate to VECC 36 and 40.

Thirty-six, let me just get that.  Is it 36?  No...

Yes, 36 and 40.  Okay, thank you.

So this next question is -- relates to VECC 46A, and it's quite straightforward.  We asked you about the actual customer counts, and the response indicated, you gave us a number based on January 5th, 2008.

Is this the customer count of 2008 or is it as of -- it's January the 5th, 2009?

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe the data was 2007 data, and I ran the figures January 5th, 2008, right after our year end.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So they are for 2008 customer counts and/or connections?

MS. WHISSELL:  Can I just clarify this is the ranges; correct?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  If you would.  Then the last thing is just to confirm that you are using year end or average.  Which is it that you have given us?

MS. WHISSELL:  Year end.

DR. HIGGIN:  Year end, okay, thank you.

I come back now to the next topic area, which is the cost allocation.  The first relates to VECC 42.  And there seems to be some confusion in our mind, anyway, whether or not the transformer allowance was included as a cost in the 2006 revenue requirement used for that filing.  Is that the case?

The first question is:  Was the transformer cost allowance included in the 2006?

MS. WHISSELL:  We may have a bit of interpretational issue here, but the way I have looked at our rate applications, we do a revenue requirement calculation, and then we deduct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Deduct, yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  So it's a net revenue as opposed to -- you referred to it as a cost.  It is included, but it's deducted from the revenue.

DR. HIGGIN:  So it's deducted as other revenue, a revenue offset?

MS. WHISSELL:  It's not a revenue offset.  It is deducted off of the distribution revenue.  It is not a revenue offset in other revenue.

DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Then we have a question which was related to sheet I3 of the cost allocation filing in this case.

The number used here, which -- I don't know whether you had a chance to look it up in the break -- used twenty-six-nine-nine-four-six-two, 20,699,462.  That's the revenue requirement, and then it says -- it appears to be constructed of these numbers, which is the 20,652,091 plus the transformer allowance, less low voltage charges.

Are we correct or not, number one; and, number two, that the transformer allowance has been included in the revenue requirement, or maybe you are going to tell me, again, that it's dealt with as an offset?

MS. WHISSELL:  I will agree with the 20,699,462.  And it is included in the revenue requirement.  It's not a cost.  It's in the revenue requirement.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, all right.

MS. WHISSELL:  I think it's kind of semantics.  It is addressed.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, okay.  Then we have heard there are some updates now to these numbers, of course?

MS. WHISSELL:  The low voltages, yes.  The 90,000 is reflective of the 2005 Greater Sudbury Hydro only cost.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, okay.  Then if we move on to the related question, there seems to be a small, but maybe significant, number difference between the transformer allowance amount for the GS greater than 50, and it seems, though, that the 30 -- 137728 was allocated -- should be allocated to all classes, not just GS.  So there seems to be a reconciliation.

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe in the cost allocation - and I think we responded to this, and I don't know the question, but in the cost allocation, the transformer allowance was effectively allocated across all of the rate classes, whereas, more correctly, it should have only been the GS over 50 class.

We ran a recalculation and I believe we resubmitted those values, and it was a very minor change to the revenue -- the cost ratio.  It was a minor change that wasn't considered significant.  But, yes, our understanding is that it was across all of those classes and should not have been.

DR. HIGGIN:  I wonder if you could just undertake to give us that reference and/or a copy of that update, if you would, please?  Can you just do that?

So this is - maybe you can help me with this - the reallocation of the transformer allowance to all classes, the update to that; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  I did the reallocation that it was only applied to the GS 50 --

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  Fair.

DR. HIGGIN:  It was originally to all classes, and now it's to the GS?

MS. SEBALJ:  You are asking simply for them to pinpoint to that reference?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.

MS. WHISSELL:  Which schedule specifically?

DR. HIGGIN:  Whatever would help us to see how that had been redone.

MS. WHISSELL:  I do think it is that percentage of revenue for the ranges from -- yes, for the residential, the 80 to 120.  It was, like, 94 per cent and change.  I think that's '01 schedule.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  I will look, and if it's not the schedule you want, just let me know and I will get you the proper one.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, okay.  If you could just do that and let me know which one it is by reference?

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So we will mark that as Undertaking No. 4.
UNDERTAKING NO. 4:  to advise THE EFFECT OF REALLOCATION OF TRANSFORMER ALLOWANCE TO GENERAL SERVICE GREATER THAN 50

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, we will move on to 49(b), VECC 49(b).  We are just trying to look beyond 2009 in terms of your plans for how to, quotes, correct or true up the R/C ratios for street lighting and sentinel lights after 2009.

We have your proposal for 2009, and the question is: What happens after 2009?  Because if we go into IRM, we are into a different regime, then.


So the question is:  What's going to happen to truing up to within the Board range for street lights and sentinel lights after 2009, and how would that affect customer classes, of course?

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay, I was going to say I am sure I responded to that one, too, and we will provide it for you, because our intention would be to bring them to the lower end of the range.

Our intent is to phase in the sentinel and the street light customers to the 70 percent ratio over two years.  I can provide you with a calculation that said, Here is their theoretical rate for 2009; this is what the rate would take them to, or this would be the total revenue recovered from that class in a future year, assuming that the revenues are the same as 2009's, basically.

It's just a reallocation of --

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.

MS. WHISSELL:  So there is a slight decrease or a lesser recovery from the other rate classes where we get up to the 70 percent.

DR. HIGGIN:  So I think what we are asking, then, is if you could give us an idea of what the pathway would be for those two classes.  If it's too much work to recast --

MS. WHISSELL:  No, I have the information.  I was sure --

DR. HIGGIN: -- the allocation to the other classes, fine, but if you can, that would be helpful, as well, just to do the projection.  Thank you.  TC --

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be Undertaking No. 5.
UNDERTAKING NO. 5:  to advise on PLANS TO BRING STREET LIGHING AND SENTINEL LIGHTING CLASSES UP TO BOARD-APPROVED RATINGS AND IMPACTS ON YEARS 2009 AND 2010

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I'm going to go now to the last page here.  It's VECC 37(a).  I have to look at the table that you provided in response to that.

Give me a minute to turn that up.  Okay, so you have provided a table in response to part A, and I think if you have that question -- that table, it would be helpful.

First of all, just to clarify, the table here shows the revenue by class for the Sudbury service area assuming rates were fully harmonized in 2009, or is that not the case?

Is it assuming full harmonization or is it including the phase-in?

MS. WHISSELL:  I would have to double check, to be honest.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So if it -- you will have two scenarios.  This assumes harmonization or you are going to continue with the two-year phase, and my question is, then:  Can you relate to the impacts on the two groups of customers between West Nipissing and Sudbury?

So we are asking you if you could compare the results in VECC 8(b) - have you got that, 8(b) - with those reported in this table, and to see what the impact, if any -- if it's different with respect to this reconciliation.

So we are trying to see whether the impacts would be different or the same as you filed in response to VECC 8(b).

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you just clarify for me which table you are referring to?  That's in response to VECC 39?

DR. HIGGIN:  First of all, the table we are looking at is in response to VECC 37, and that was -- there was a difference in the revenues reported in VECC 8(b) as those reported in Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 8, page 1, and then this was a reconciliation of those that was provided.

So the question now, we are just trying to clarify what the assumptions underlying this, as to whether or not it assumes full harmonization or it still assumes the two-year phase-in for harmonization.  That's what we are trying to clarify.

MS. WHISSELL:  What I can offer at this time is those tables, now that I can visualize, when we did the rate calculation and we did the percentage splits by rate class, we did it initially for a fully harmonized LDC, and then what we did was we said we will hold those assumptions constant for Sudbury alone.

With West Nipissing, with the two-year phase-in, we said this is the revenue we would get from them, assuming harmonization with the two-year phase-in.  We had an adjustment.  So the results are slightly different.

There is an impact, because there is a shortfall from West Nipissing because of the phase-in that is shifted to the Sudbury customers.  So the ratios aren't exactly the same, because I have used -- I have used the same assumptions, but there is a dollar shift.

It's hard to explain, but when we go back to the figures, I will try and put it in more straightforward English.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thanks.  If you could do that, that would be helpful, because we were a bit confused about what the assumptions were exactly through those two steps.

MS. WHISSELL:  But what we did with the Sudbury customers when we recalculated, we said this would be the revenue requirement from Sudbury in total dollars, taking the total harmonized, subtracting what we would get from West Nipissing with the two-year phase-in, and then said, Now with these resulting numbers, apply the same assumptions to a slightly realigned figure.

And that's why, by the rate classes, there is a bit of a shift.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  So can we mark that as Undertaking No. 6.
UNDERTAKING NO. 6:  To Clarify harmonization treatment re response to VECC IR 37, part A.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  That is just to clarify how harmonization has been treated, if you like, with respect to -- right?  Okay -- based on the response to VECC -- let me come back again -- VECC 37, part A.

I think the last question is on the smart meter rate.  We know what the current proposed smart meter rate adder is, 2.17 per month per customer.

The question is:  For 2010 and 2011, will that be the same, or does your projection, based on the model, see there being a change, and how much change, to the rate adder in 2010/2011?

MS. WHISSELL:  We did quote three different rates for each of the three years.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have subsequently adjusted the rate for 2009 down to $1.94, because we had not accounted for monies already collected prior to May 1st of 2009.

We analyzed two different options that -- I think in the template, you would deduct everything that was collected and apply it against year one, and that result would have given us a reduced rate in year one, and then it would have escalated in two and three.

So we decided to smooth it, that's why we have the three revised rates, and I only remember the $1.94.

DR. HIGGIN:  So that must have been a Board Staff response that you made, or is it an update?  What's the reference, sorry, for that?  Where was that revised?  Do you remember being -- I don't remember there being that revision.  I haven't seen it before.  It must have been filed somewhere.

MS. WHISSELL:  It was even in the second round of interrogatories.  They requested clarification for what rates we were providing, Board Staff No. - original - 45, and Board Staff 16 in the second round.

DR. HIGGIN:  And number 16 -- okay.  So, in essence, you came up -- instead of having a levellized, you came up with having three separate rate adders at that point?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, that's helpful.  That's what we are trying to look at, see directionally how that would change over the forward period.

Okay, thank you.  Those are all of our questions, and we will look forward to the supplementary information.  Thank you very much for your assistance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hi.  So can I go ahead?

MR. THIESSEN:  I think so.  Do you have an idea how long you might take?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, between 60 and 90 minutes.

MR. THIESSEN:  Do you think it's better to have a break now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Probably better to get some of it in before the break.

MR. THIESSEN:  Shall we go to about quarter after 3:00?
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good for me.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.  I should warn you that I will probably ask for quite a number of undertakings.  My intention is not that you start working busily on them between now to tomorrow, but, rather, that if this goes to hearing, then there will be a number of additional documents we will want to see and cross-examine on in the hearing.

So I have to get them on the record today so that you have the obligation to provide them for a hearing.  But they will also give you a sense of the sort of information we are going to talk about in ADR, which we can do on a more informal basis, much as your discussion earlier with Roger about the LRAM.

So let me -- I am trying to figure out where to start. You know what?  Let's start with Board Staff Supplementary 20(b), which is your 2008 audited financial statements.  Do you have those?

I have just a couple of quick questions on them.  You will find all of my questions are just clarification questions.  There is lots of data here, and some of it is not as readily understandable as others, and so we are just trying to get our heads around what the data means.

So on your audited financial statements, the first thing I note is you have three auditors.  Help us with that.  The audit opinion is signed by three different firms, and not firms that typically like each other.

I have never actually seen that before.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, the auditors are actually set by the shareholder, who is ultimately the city, and it's a requirement under the city's audit requirements that they have two auditors certify the opinion.

However, when they went out for tender, they formed this triumvirate of auditors, which are basically all of the major audit firms within the City of Sudbury, to bid on all of the audit work; namely, the city and its associated agencies, as well as the utility.

So that anomaly just naturally fell over on to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you -- so you pay for the cost of your component of the audit; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, and only that cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's -- you have in your budget about $100,000 for that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Plus you have another $50,000 for what you call special audit work, and another $50,000 for IFRS work; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's money you actually pay to the city, and then they pay the auditor?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  We pay everything directly to the auditors, with a letter of engagement associated with each special requirement that we would have or the audit, in general.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't choose the auditor?  The city chooses the auditor?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, the shareholder chose the auditor, which is --

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they have an RFP?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, they went out to RFP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is your work bid separately from the city's work, or is it all one?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It was a component that was bid separately within this RFP that was issued by the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did your board see the component bids for your work?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  This is a legacy undertaking.  It goes back to, I am going to say the year 2000.  The transition board reviewed it extensively, and they made the associated commitments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry.  I am not asking the historical question.  I am asking the current question.  Normally, in corporations, the management and the board of directors of the corporation choose the auditor -- recommend the auditor, but decide how much they are going to pay, and the shareholders then approve the selection of the auditor, but they don't have anything to do with how much you pay for them.  That's a management function.

So what I am asking is:  What did management see in terms of what the various bids were to do your work as opposed to the city's work?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Umm... The RFP was a number of years ago.  It's a continuing fee.  That is being charged based on the scope of the audit requirements for that particular year.

So our board, in its letter of engagement of the external auditor, was advised of the budget, the work that was associated with the audit and any special audit requirements, with the costs of each of those undertakings reflected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the city just tells you, in effect, what the numbers are?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who tells you?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's a direct relationship.  It's a discussion between our audit committee, which is made up of our board, and the external auditor.  It's only the auditors, as such, are named by the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you determine the price?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In a negotiation, but you don't do an RFP?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, no.  We don't go out for an RFP on audit services on an annual basis, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you negotiate the price, then?  I mean, you have -- all three auditors from town are all in together.  You sort of have a monopoly there.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, it's actually one audit firm that is the primary auditors.  It's FCR are the auditors, and our discussions are primarily with them.  The second partner, a quality assurance review is done by KPMG on behalf of their work, and then the third audit being Collins Barrow.  They do a cursory review.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you don't have any way of assessing whether what they are charging you is right, is fair, because you have no external, like, bidding process or anything?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  It's primarily based off of the historical costs of the audit, an update of what the requirements for the current year are, where areas of exposure might be, the requirements of the institute, and all of those are quantified in a comprehensive document submitted to the audit committee for review and there is a price associated with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  Now, in note 3(h) of these financials -- I think this is also true in your 2007 financials, but I happen to have the 2008 ones handy.

This is your amortization rates for various types of capital assets, and for distribution systems you have 25 years.  Would I be right to assume that that's your average and that you actually use a more detailed breakdown of amortization rates for the components of the distribution system?

MS. WHISSELL:  It's actually 25 years, straight line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For everything?

MS. WHISSELL:  For the distribution plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Ontario Energy Board has a set of depreciation rates that most utilities use; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  And what we are using is the historical Hydro One rates from years ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't use the Board --

MS. WHISSELL:  The Ontario Energy Board, I believe, suggests a guideline, and we can determine the rates.  And we are using historical rates that were the predecessor of Hydro One-suggested amortization lines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is it 25 years for everything?

MS. WHISSELL:  For the distribution plant, yes.  So poles -- our stations are 30, but our poles, conductor, transformers are 35 -- 25, sorry.  Meters are 25.  The anomaly there would be any new meters that we acquire for smart meters we will change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do we have in the evidence somewhere your depreciation rates for your PP&E?

MS. WHISSELL:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have in the evidence somewhere of your detailed depreciation rates for -- amortization rates for components of PP&E, components of PP&E, property, plant and equipment?

MS. WHISSELL:  We can check.  We think it's in the fixed asset continuity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we do it this way, because I don't want to take a lot of time on this detailed stuff.  What I am going to ask you to give us, and maybe you can do it by way of undertaking, is a comparison by category of your depreciation rates compared to the OEB guidelines; can you do that?

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's Undertaking No. 7.
UNDERTAKING NO. 7:  To Provide a comparison by category of depreciation rates compared to the OEB guidelines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that description clear enough?

MS. SEBALJ:  I think it was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next question I had on the financial statements related to note 5.  And in note 5, you have your receivables and you have an allowance for your receivables that looks like it's about 40 percent or so, maybe 38 per cent, of your receivables, which I have never actually seen in an LDC.

So I am wondering, is there something special about that allowance that is the reason why it's so high?

MS. WHISSELL:  It's really a matter of not having taken the time to formally remove old accounts off the system.  We have transitioned from a number of billing systems over the years, and the write-off module was not something that we have implemented.

So we do have accounts on our books that date back to late '90s, potentially, mid '90s, that are sitting there.  We would take -- we would remove the receivable balance and we would remove the allowance for bad debts, and you would write the number down dramatically.

It is just because we have not formally removed them from our sub-ledger.  It's the only reason.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's sort of a fix to make sure your final number is right when you haven't -- you are not implementing the write-off system as perhaps you would might?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would only like to add to that that there is a limitation in our system that a person could identify themselves under a variety of identifiers, whether it be a name, a multiple name, a social security number, a driver's licence number.

Without having that historical information, you could come on as Jay Shepherd McMillan tomorrow; whereas under this approach, there would be a correlation between some other identifying information where we would say, Well, Jay Shepherd has the same driver's licence number as Jay Shepherd McMillan.  But are you the same person?  Yes, you are.

Well, then you have arrears with us, and it triggers that sort of dunning collection practice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This problem will be fixed with your new ERP?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  Well, it's not a problem.  It's an opportunity in our vision.

MS. WHISSELL:  Actually, when we concert, we will not be converting.  We will be writing them off prior to conversion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I guess there is two aspects to this.  First of all, I assume that for regulatory purposes these are treated as bad debts, that you write them off each year?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the fact that you have this anomaly in your financial records, it doesn't affect your rate application?

MS. WHISSELL:  No, it doesn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the other side to that is when you implement ERP, you are going to find out a whole lot of stuff about those nasty old accounts, and my experience is, when you find out stuff, you collect things.

Are you expecting to collect some of that with a new system that gives you this sort of -- these sort of connectors?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  These accounts have all been put through the dunning collection process through a third party collection agency.  You know, our intentions are certainly to follow up extensively, as extensively as the systems permit, and recover any amounts that we can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it from your tone that you are not expecting that to be a huge windfall?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They are very old accounts.  We have been very diligent in the last six or seven years with respect to accounts.  You know, that 1.9 balance goes back a long time, way before my time at the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I can assume the 1.9, while it looks like it is strange, in fact in the day-to-day world where real people are doing things as opposed to the computer systems, you are actually on top of all those accounts and you have collected what you can collect?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay, I get it.

The last question I had on these financial statements -- and I am just asking about anomalies, things that don't look normal.  The other one that doesn't look normal to me is in note 16.

In note 16 you say, Oh, by the way, we have --

MS. WHISSELL:  Which year's statements are you looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  2008, pension agreements.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Pension agreements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it says that you make pension contributions for two members of staff.  Are there only two of your 60-odd that have pensions?

MS. WHISSELL:  Most of our employees are in the Greater Sudbury Hydro -- well, of our group of companies, the majority of employees reside in Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus, which is the service company.  There are only two full-time employees in Greater Sudbury Hydro itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so that raises a question in my mind.  These are the Hydro statements; right?  And even though you only have two employees, you are paying for a whole lot of other employees; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Like 58?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would have thought that in here in these statements you would have the pension costs of those employees; right?

In fact, I think in a previous year you had a $5.9 million charge, didn't you, in your statements?  I could be wrong, but I thought so.

MS. WHISSELL:  This is the OMERS benefit.  The other note is a future pension benefit, which is health and dental, benefits of that nature, not directly related to OMERS.  But, yes, the agreement is that the future pension benefit accrue back to Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Hydro statements still reflect all of the pension costs.  They just don't reflect them as pension costs.  They reflect them as something else?

MS. WHISSELL:  In our consolidated statements, you would see the full OMERS benefit costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, that is not the question I'm asking.

MS. WHISSELL:  The cost for OMERS is reflected in the service level agreement charges.  It's not laid out in a note as an actual contribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me put it to you a different way.  In these -- this has an implied revenue requirement of something like $21.2 million for 2008, and it has breakdown of distribution operations, maintenance, blah, blah, blah.  Those figures all include pension costs; right?

But when you break it out in your notes, the only ones that you actually pay as pension are those two employees.  The rest of them are paid as payments to Plus for the use of those people?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Loaded costs, in effect?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, let me turn to -- well, since I am on shared services, let me deal with shared services.  I am looking at School Energy Coalition IR 16 - sorry, there are subs in here - 16(d)(v), which is actually page 46 of your responses.

You have a table here that is your shared services costs.  Do you have that?

DR. HIGGIN:  Is that table 4.2.4-2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, table 4.2.4-2.

MS. KOSKI:  The question number again, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  16(d)(v), page 46.

MS. KOSKI:  Okay, we have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I have a number of questions arising out of this, but let's start with the -- this table is OM&A only; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is also capital, but that would be -- that is basically -- there are costs in Plus or elsewhere that the utility pays; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not in this chart?

MS. WHISSELL:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, when you were answering questions that Roger was asking you, you talked about the status of the review of your intercompany activities, if you like, your structure, who's paying who, what, et cetera, the cost allocation.

And you said that the transfer pricing is immaterial, in the sense that the numbers were small, but then you just said that 58, or whatever -- almost all of your employees are in an affiliate.

So maybe we are at mis -- we are understanding this differently.  Can you help me with reconciling those things?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In one of the submissions, and I don't know which, I gave you an organization chart, and it broke out all of the companies by staff component.

What I said earlier in my response was Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus, 99 per cent of the employees' activities on the ground are actually executed within the wires companies.  There is a separate complement of employees in the one-six company that services all of the competitive activities.

So in simplicity's sake, I could almost overlay or merge Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus and the Hydro company, and that, in effect, would be one corporation.  I can amalgamate those two, with the exception that there are certain small-dollar-value items.

For instance -- and there is a schedule here and I hate doing this from memory, but the allocated costs to Agilis are $170,000, or thereabouts, okay?  And that is for things like space rental and for the accounting that we perform, and a little bit of IT that we provide to them, okay?  But the charge is 170 in that corporation.

The charge in -- well, each corporation has a specific charge, and that's what I am referring to, that those service costs are generally immaterial when you look at the flow and volumes that is associated with the Hydro company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say the transfer pricing is not that immaterial, you are not thinking of transfer pricing between Hydro and Plus because, in your mind, they are basically the same.  You are thinking of between Plus and the non-regulated activities?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly, exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's almost like within Plus?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, I am saying it is one entity, okay?  It's an amalgamated entity.  Although because of the ARC requirements, the wires company did not perform those services directly for the service entities, then we had to leave that service entity in place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is no business purpose to have Plus.  Plus is there so you can comply with ARC?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  I think that that's probably -- it would be a good analogy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that make you nuts?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, it does.  Absolutely it makes us nuts.

MR. REEVES:  One of the simple examples is street lighting.  If we move all of our linemen into the wires company, into the LDC, we can't do street lighting, as I understand it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting, because we just came away from another utility where I am quite sure that's what they are doing.

MR. REEVES:  We were told that it's not allowed out of the wires company.

DR. HIGGIN:  There are two shared services models, and one is the utility provides the shared service, and then there has to be a cost allocation as per Hydro One.

So there is two shared services models.  One, the utility provides the shared services to the family, and then there is a cost allocation methodology for making sure those costs are appropriately allocated.

Hydro One does that.  They had R.J. Rudden review the methodology, et cetera.  And the other one is the one you have got, basically, where you have a separate shared services company.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  But we have in fact two shared services companies now.

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know, this also makes us nuts, because if it's not in the utility, then it's less transparent to us.

I wondered - and this is just sort of out of the blue - have you considered or perhaps actually provided for an exemption for the small amounts you are talking about?

MR. REEVES:  We have had those kinds of discussions with the chief compliance officer, and at least what I came away with was if we had all the employees in wiresco, we wouldn't be allowed to do those things with those employees, save and except the water billing, which is allowed.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I think to add to that answer, it's -- I have responded previously that we are in discussions with the chief compliance officer.  It is certainly something that, as we narrow down - because there are about three or four outstanding items that we are still dealing with - that that kind of exception or exclusion would be something that we would ask for in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The expenses that get applied to the non-regulated activities are only, like, a few hundred thousand dollars; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Out of 20 million?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good stuff.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's why I made the earlier reference in one of my responses that it's such an immaterial amount that for me to go out hire a Rudden or -- the firm was KPMG that I contacted was $200,000.  Well, I may be wrong, but I am not that far wrong in my allocations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have a couple of other questions on that, but it's now past 3:15 and we probably should take a break.

MR. THIESSEN:  All right.  Shall we break until, let's say, 25 to 4:00?

--- Recess taken at 3:16 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:44 p.m.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am still on this table 4.2.4-2, which must have taken some thinking to get that number.  Yes.

And I have just a couple of questions about this, because with all of your expenses essentially in Plus, all of your employees anyway there - basically your whole operation there - I didn't understand why your shared services costs weren't essentially all of your OM&A?

Here this appears to be 55, 58, you know, that sort of range, percent of your OM&A.  Why wouldn't it just be all of it?

MS. WHISSELL:  I guess in the table I have reflected only those components where it's not 100 per cent crossover.  So I think we had a table in another interrogatory question where all of the distribution, operations and maintenance is 100 percent.  So interpretationally that's not shared.  It's 100 per cent recovered.

These components here are shared amongst the affiliates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So anything that was 100 percent is not included in this, and that would be basically the rest of your expenses?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that makes things probably more confusing, but it helps anyway.

Then let me ask a couple of follow-ups to that.  The first is you have provided this very useful chart, TC-4.  And I look at -- and I am still looking at 4.2.4-2, and I see, for example, the line, "Board and Executive Salaries and Expenses", and then there is an identical item in account 5605.  So that's actually a 100 percent allocation, or is that only a percentage of the Plus cost?

MS. WHISSELL:  This is only the portion that was -- the table 4.2.4-2 is only what was allocated.  And in the second round of interrogatories, there is a table where we have shown the total costs from our budget, and then we have said this is what has gone to our wires company, and then this is what has gone to the affiliates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I can see where board and executive salaries are, and then I can see under account 5610 where the next line, 519672, is.  Then I assume that the 683148 is the total of 556172 and 126976 on TC-4; is that right?

MS. WHISSELL:  It sounds good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So those four lines in A&G are these three lines in the shared services.  The billing and customer services and the cashier and administrative services, that's all in the billing and collections component, right, on the other page?

So you've got a figure there of 2515358?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And of that, about 2.1 million comes from shared services?

MS. WHISSELL:  Again, I have a reconciliation, but the 2051 is the percentage that is allocated, and the 2051 and the 67, 6 that is cash and admin services is also part of billing and collections.  It's in the two-five, and then I would probably add the bad debt charge.  It's not a shared service, so the 165 is simply stand-alone, 5335.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- and there is something else missing, too.  I don't know what it is, because there is still -- the figures still don't reconcile.

MS. WHISSELL:  And in the second-round interrogatory, we have even taken it from our budget and tried to reconcile exactly this table to these accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but let me focus on just one thing, and that is meter-reading expense.  Is that a shared service?

MS. WHISSELL:  No.  That is 100 percent.  The meter reading costs for water go directly to the city.  These meter reading costs are only utility related -- or electric service or wires company related.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I will come back to that in a second.  Then you have these property management and IS and IT, and all these things at the bottom here, and I couldn't find where they were in TC-4.

The total is about $3 million or so.

MS. WHISSELL:  Under the admin and general expense, 5675.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they are all buried in admin and general somewhere?

MS. WHISSELL:  In 5675, we have 997758.  If you took IS, IT and property, plant and equipment, so the 562460, the 41, 7 and the 393, 6.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now that's interesting.  Why would you bury your IT costs in 5675?  I don't mean bury in a bad way.  Just, like, normally IT costs have a line.  You show where they are.  When I looked at TC-4, I said, Where's your IT costs?  Don't you have computers?  And I assumed you did.

And I couldn't find them.  So they are in that maintenance and general plant?

MS. WHISSELL:  We don't see -- in the chart of accounts we don't see a stand-alone account called IS and IT, so we have lumped it under the account 5675.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, okay.  And so the miscellaneous general expenses, I can see that number there, the same number, in 5665.  And the 367115.90 I can't see anywhere.  You might be able to help me with that.

MS. WHISSELL:  Inventory and stores, we treat it as a cost centre, and we have a purchasing and stores cost categories in our budget, and those costs are distributed throughout OM&A and capital as an overhead attached to material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they are part of your burden, and in that 49-page detailed budget, you see every third line is something being redistributed back and forth.  That's where they go?  They get redistributed to the functions that they relate to?

MS. WHISSELL:  There is one item that is called stores and purchasing, and you will see a dollar total.  If within something -- for example, overhead transformer operations or maintenance, if you saw a line that said stores material, whatever the raw cost is, we would add a percentage for the recovery of the stores burden to that line item.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of that finds its way into operations and maintenance and those areas?

MS. WHISSELL:  Most is capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, most is capital?

MS. WHISSELL:  But some is operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then is the same true of fleet management?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, identical.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's basically distributed to the functional activities --

MS. WHISSELL:  Based on the vehicle utilization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that's good.

So I was all excited with doing totals and calculations and shared costs, but, really, these numbers by themselves don't have any meaningful information in them.  Individually, they are useful, but as a total they are just -- they are a part of your operations?

MS. WHISSELL:  We are just going to try to find for you the reference where we did have the actual raw total, and then the wires, and we will give you a reference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  I want to turn to another area of questions, and I will start with SEC No. 9(c).  The question was:
"Please file the final budget package reviewed and approved by the executive team for each of 2008 and 2009."

And so you have referred us to attachment 9(c), which is quite a lengthy attachment, this thick, which has minutes of a board meeting, plus resolutions, and then high-level and detailed budgets for each of those three years; right?  Can you take that out, because I have some questions about that.


MS. WHISSELL:  Is it the actual budget you would like us to take out?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to be going through it step by step, so you can start with the minutes.

MS. KOSKI:  What interrogatory number is that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's SEC 9(c), about 150 pages of material.

MS. WHISSELL:  Is that the original or the supplementary?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is original.  Now, so what the question asked was for what was approved by your executive team, not by your board of directors.  And what we were looking for is the presentation.

Presumably you had a PowerPoint and you had some back-up information, not just a raw budget; some support to it.  That's what we were looking for.  Did you not have something like that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  In fact, our board wants all of the detail, and it's gone through an audit kind of committee review as part of the presentation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you provide rationales for items, like narrative?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It is through discussion.  As you are going through any particular one cost centre, going through number by number, the rationale flows from that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Now, this package of material that's attached to this board of directors' resolution, is that what was actually originally proposed, or is this what they finally approved?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We go through a number of iterations of the budget.  What we present to the board, that becomes the final document, with any minor changes that may have arisen, but that's a real exception.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's approved by management first; right?  So somebody within the organization has a responsibility to gather together the budget materials, make sure everybody's numbers are right, et cetera, et cetera, and then presents it to management before the board, right, to the president, say?

Does it not work that way, or is it more collegial than that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's not that formal a process, no.  This is it.  This is it.  You are working with it right here and we are doing the budget review, or we are doing the budget preparation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you do it together, you come to a consensus, and once you have reached a consensus -- and that consensus includes:  What's the Board going to say about this?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And once you have reached a consensus, you expect the Board to approve it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have already thought that through?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so because it's done that way -- again, I don't mean that in a negative sense.  It's actually very effective, but because it's done that way, it means that there is not a whole lot of paperwork behind the process, except for spreadsheets that keep changing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you do it by sitting around a table and saying, Well, what about this?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that -- okay.

Well, that certainly solves a lot of my initial questions, and so now I am getting to -- maybe the easiest way to start these questions is to start at -- right near the end of this package is a document entitled "Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. Operating Maintenance and Administration Summary For the Budget Year 2009".

It's page 4 of a -- you've got this 49-page document, and then you have this seven-page document right at the end.  It's page 4 of that seven-page document.  Do you have that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I looked at this total operating cost, 21.2 million, and if you net out the things that in your rate application are not in OM&A, I get to an OM&A number of 10,474,643; does that sound about right to you?

I can tell you how I got there if you want, if that's easier?

In order to get the OM&A number, what I did is I took out G, H, I, J and K, because none of those things are in your OM&A in your rate application, and then, in F, I replaced the 609, which includes all your funded stuff, with the 187236 that you have in your application; is that fair?

So that comes to 10,474,643.  Is it fair to conclude that what your board approved for your 2009 OM&A is 10,474,643?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I don't have that number in front of me, Jay, but can I guess that the question is that the board approved something other than the 2009 request in the rate application?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's where I am going, yeah.  In one of the other IRs dealing with capital expenses, you said -- and I don't have it in front of me.  You said something like, The rate application is what we think is the appropriate amount, but what our board approved is a lesser amount, because we assumed we might not get everything in the rate application.

Is that the same here, that you lopped off $1.4 million as sort of a contingency?

MR. REEVES:  We made some predictions about what we might get through the rate application progress, some very, very worst-case scenarios we worried about, because we have to operate prudently in the meantime.

And we explained that to the board in providing that budget to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, basically -- and when you go to your board of directors, you say, Look, it's going to be June before we get rates, and, in the meantime, we have to have a decision about what numbers we can spend, and we can't spend everything we think we should spend, because we might not get it all in our rate case?

Am I describing it correctly or is that -- am I overstating it?

MR. REEVES:  No, that's pretty close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that said, it's, Let's be careful out there, sort of approach.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would add to that, Jay, if I may, that we were even more careful than that.  Our application was late, so we started to doing sensitivity analysis as to:  Is it going to be May 1st date, is it going to be a June date, is it going to be an August date, or some other date?  And that's how we made that determination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course you have the -- and, you know, I am not going to be surprising you in this, I think.  You the dilemma that you told your board of directors you could operate the utility on 1.4 million less than you are telling this Board you can operate the utility.

I guess it's fair to ask:  How do you reconcile that? How can you say to this Board it costs $11.9 million and your own board it costs $10.5 million?

MR. REEVES:  No, I think what we are saying is that this is a contingency plan.  If we don't get any rate increase, we intend to keep operating.  You know, this is the rate increase that we believe we need to maintain the system and to make it sustainable, more importantly.

I think our experience is that you can operate for less than that for the rest of the year, but you would be heading for disaster.  That's the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it cuts into shareholders' equity; right?

MR. REEVES:  No.  We operated the utility, for example, during an 18-week strike with 18 employees.  So, you know, you could say, Why don't you operate with 30 employees?   Obviously, you did it with 18 for 18 weeks.

That just isn't sustainable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, of course not.  But I am asking a different question.  If it turns out that your board's approved a $10.5 million budget for OM&A, and this Board only gives you 10 million, then that $500,000 comes out of ROE; doesn't it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Absolutely.  The utility will not earn its full rate of return.

MR. McMILLAN:  Or you don't do the work, one or the other.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How can you not do the work?

MR. McMILLAN:  For example, in the rate application, we put in for a substation electrician who hasn't been hired yet.  We need that person to do the extra work that's required that's identified in the plan.  It won't get done.  The utility with suffer as a result of not getting that work done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's what I'm trying to understand.  If you are putting to the Ontario Energy Board we have to do this stuff, presumably you're putting that to your shareholder, the city, too.  And your shareholder, the city, isn't going to say, Well, no, I want my money and I don't care whether the posts fall down.

It's still their town; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right, but I don't think that's the way it works.  I think that you end up -- on substations, they have identified, we have identified we needed another person to be able to do a satisfactory substation maintenance program.

If out of this Board we don't get the money to do that, it won't get done and the plant will deteriorate, and we will tell the Board that.  Whether they act on it or not is a whole other issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  In this document that we are talking about -- we are on page 4.  I am looking at page 3.  You have a forecasted distribution revenue.  Is that at applied-for rates, or is that at some lesser rates?

MR. REEVES:  It's at a lesser rate.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's at existing rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that existing rates?

MR. REEVES:  I believe so.

MS. WHISSELL:  It's a blend of existing rates for a period of the year, because the rate application will be effective either May 1st or some other date, and then it is adjusted rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As applied for?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MS. WHISSELL:  No -- yes.  As applied for, yes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  As applied for.  It's just a period of time.  Whether it comes into effect in September, then we would use the new rates for the period September through December 31st, add that to our existing rates for the nine-month period, and that's what our total revenue calculation would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you see, it's interesting you say that, because the Ontario Energy Board's regulatory concept for LDCs is you calculate how much you feed on a calendar-year basis, and then you collect it with a four-month -- typically, a four-month delay.

So you collect it over 12 months, but it's a different 12 months.  But you collect the same amount that you spend over the calendar-year period.

It sounds like you are saying is you can't spend more in the calendar than you actually collect in rates in the calendar year; is that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's the way these documents are reflected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Okay, I understand.  Thanks.

So then let me just ask a couple of detailed questions with respect to -- sorry, I am told time and again don't cover the microphone with your binders, and I still do it all the time.

I am looking at these 49 pages of details, and, trust me, I am not going to go through them all, but I do have some questions.  They are more by way of example, although some are details.

So if you look at page 2 of 49 -- do you have that, sorry?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  You see this line, "board per diem meeting expense"?  And I note that there is none in 2008, there is some in 2009, and, when I look back to 2007, you were paying a per diem.

What happened in 2008?  You stopped paying it?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there were some objections?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I got it.  Are your directors municipal councillors, primarily?

MR. REEVES:  Three out of five.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then on the next page is an item, "IFRS provisioning".  That 50,000 there is also in the rate application; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in addition to asking for a variance account for IFRS, you also have a budget item for IFRS; right?  You have both.

So you are saying, We are going to spend this money on IFRS.  We want to collect that in rates now, and, if we spend more or less, presumably, because it's a variance account, then we want that trued up at the end of the year; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Can you please rephrase the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have asked for an IFRS variance account, right, an account for IFRS costs?

MS. WHISSELL:  I don't believe we have asked for a variance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?

MS. WHISSELL:  We only have it in our budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what happens when you have 20 cost of service applications to deal with.

MS. WHISSELL:  They're not all the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's probably Canadian Niagara Power, which I was working on last night, that asked for it.  Okay, never mind.

I did note that you have -- in that same line, the difference is not included, and I assume -- I saw a number of things like that where the difference column doesn't track properly to the other two columns, so I assume -- can I fairly conclude I should ignore the difference column?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We would appreciate it if you would.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, come on.  The next item, I am going to talk to about SAP in a second, but on page 7 you have $60,000 for ERP maintenance.  And so is that a support cost or is that an actual fixing some server or --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's our best guesstimate, because our intentions were, once we completed the CIS, there's a parallel committee that was to be formed with the implementation of the ERP accounting package from SAP at the same time.

That was to be a very, very quick implementation, and there is a maintenance cost associated with the ERP packages, as well as the CIS package, and that was our estimate of what our allocated costs would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's a software maintenance cost?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's 17 percent of the cost?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where it says here equipment repairs, it's not equipment repairs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a cost for the old system that offsets that somewhere, because this replaces an old system; right?  Presumably you were paying some support costs for that?

MS. WHISSELL:  It replaces the old system, but we assume this to be the incremental amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this is not an incremental budget.  This is a this-is-what-you-spend budget.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have about $40,000 in the budget for our existing system, and we have provided an additional $60,000.  We estimate the annual maintenance to be about $100,000, so the $60,000 is when we jump to the new system, the incremental value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I don't understand.  This is what your board said you are allowed to spend to; not the extra you are allowed to spend, but what you are actually allowed to spend.  So it can't be incremental.  It's the budget; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I am trying to understand.  In a changeover year of software, you often end up paying maintenance costs twice, because you have to pay for the old one and the new one, and you have a crossover period.  And usually you have to pay full years in both years.

So when you are looking at a rebasing year, you have to regularize for that, because, going forward, you are only going to have one of them?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's not how we provided this, though.  If you look at page -- the next page, page 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  Right at the top you will see equipment repairs and maintenance $41,000 in both 2008 and 2009.  Our maintenance for our existing system is much lower than what we anticipate our new system to be.  So the combined total of the 60 plus the 41, we have just allowed it -- we have -- instead of showing a line of 100,000 versus 41, we have got 41 plus 60 on another page, but the total maintenance cost is expected to be $100,000 per year on go-forward basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not paying a full year in SAP this year?  I used to be president of a software company.  We always, always charged full year on day one.  I have never seen anybody do it differently.

MS. WHISSELL:  On the software component, there is full maintenance on the -- what's the word I want -- implementation.  There is a separate component there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  So that $60,000 is one year's maintenance on the accounting component of the ERP?

MS. WHISSELL:  No, I am going to say $100,000 is our estimated annual maintenance for our new ERP system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess can you undertake to give us that -- there is a document where they tell you how much it is going to cost every year.  Can you undertake to provide that?

MR. THIESSEN:  That would be Undertaking No. 9 -- no, No. 8.  No. 8.

MR. CLARK:  Have we made a statement of what the undertaking is?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's an invoice or quote on the annual maintenance fee for the ERP for 2007 and beyond.
UNDERTAKING NO. 8:  To provide invoice or quote on annual maintenance fee for the ERP for 2007 and beyond.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So still on page 8, and this is -- this is probably obvious, but I just want to make sure I understand how these numbers work.

You have some numbers for IT crew leader, and then you have some numbers for IT application specialist, and you see one goes down and one goes up.

Do I assume that that means a role has been recategorized, because it looks like the total ends up being close to the same; slightly more, but not much more?

MS. KOSKI:  Can you clarify what you are looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  I am sorry.  Under information technology, the first four lines are the various categories of costs for IT crew leader, and the next four lines are the various categories of cost for IT application specialist.

If you see for 2008 to 2009, the first four lines go down by about $60,000.  The next four lines go up by about $70,000.  It looks like you got a person who was an IT crew leader who is now an IT application specialist; is that right?

I am only asking because I don't want to go chasing down all these little things if there is obvious explanations like this.  There are a number of things like that in here.

MS. KOSKI:  In 2008, I would say that, yes, there was just a switch of classification, because if you look at the bottom line, it's comparable, and I think that switch is just having -- I have moved from someone from a different classification year over year, or rolled it up differently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me just ask a side question on this.  Who actually prepares these budgets?  Do you prepare them, because your job is regulatory, isn't it?

MS. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not a regulatory budget.  This is financial budget?

MS. KOSKI:  I work in finance and regulatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  You have to do both?

MS. KOSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And other things, too.  Yeah, I get it. On page 10, I don't actually have a question about the number, but I see this line, "legal consultants and labour relations".  It makes me ask the question:  When does your labour contract come up, your main labour contract?

MS. WHISSELL:  2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 2008 was the last one, and it's a three-year contract?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these expenses, these are just grievances and all that sort of normal stuff.  Okay.

So you will not be surprised that on page 13, the first line grabbed my attention, because it's -- everybody here I am sure is surprised that you came here without a lawyer.

And so to see that you spent $65,000, or you plan to spend $65,000 on lawyers, is a bit of surprise.  Do you still plan to spend that?  Did you spend it already?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  At the end of the day, our costs will be $65,000.  For instance, we spent yesterday with our legal counsel in their offices, but the invoices accumulated to date have to be at least for 40,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But as an external advisor, not as part of the regulatory crew at the Board?  You are here at a technical conference without a lawyer.  I have never seen that before.

MR. REEVES:  We don't think we need a lawyer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There you go, okay.  So then let me go to page 15.  And so here we have -- right at the bottom line, we have annual SAP maintenance.  Now, that's for the CIS component of the SAP solution; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have got WIPRO.  What's WIPRO?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They are the implementation consultants.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For?

MR. REEVES:  For SAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For which, ERP?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  CIS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you be paying for the CIS in 2009?  I thought you already put that in.  Isn't it the ERP that's going in this year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, it is.

MS. KOSKI:  Both.  It's both.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought the CIS was already done.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you have an item on the same page, legal consultants for customer service.  I thought, nice work if you can get it, but it's not a normal thing you would see in a utility budget.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's representation in small claims court.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's collections.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  A part of it would be collections.  A part of it would be reviewing agreements, as we enter into them, for SAP and those kinds of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, okay.  And then on page 17, right at the top, you have annual ASP - which I assume means SAP - operating charge; is that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's a fee from London Hydro who are acting as a service provider.  They are actually hosting the computer systems for the CIS system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's your hosting charge?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that go up if you have both installed versus one, or is it all the same cost?  I have read the agreements.  I just can't remember.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Everything goes up.  I would have to check that, but there would be a charge associated with the ERP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next question I have is on page 21.  You have $37,000 for graffiti removal, grounds maintenance summer, and tree trimming and removal, all contract labour, and that's an expense you didn't have before.

I guess these are not new things, so presumably they were done by inside staff before?

MR. McMILLAN:  Actually, graffiti is very new.  We started having graffiti on stations less than two years ago, and it's showed up quite prolifically.

We weren't doing our grounds maintenance, in terms of tree trimming, properly.  That's what Costello & Associates reported in their assessment of our substations, and so we incrementally added that.  They felt that we needed to get the trees back.

Grounds maintenance is something we get done by the city, but we never recognized the cost in our budget before, so we put it in there.  Yes, it's been an expense over the years, but it's never been reflected as a budget item.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

I am on page 24 now and I have two questions on this.  One is relating to the line, "change for the PCB-contaminated units", and you talked about that earlier with, I think, Mr. Clark.  Did you say you had 400 to change in total?

MR. McMILLAN:  No.  We probably have somewhere around 120 to 150.  What I said was West Nipissing, when we took over, they have about 400 transformers in their fleet, if you will.  They have never been tested for PCBs.  We're in the process of doing that.  You can expect roughly a 10 percent PCB-contaminated to flow out from them, and they have somewhere between 300 to 400 transformers.

So we are expecting about 30 to 40 more.  This is the first year, so we have 40 or so in here.  I would expect that in 2010, we will want to do 40 more.

We have around 100 left in Sudbury that are still out there in the greater than 50 that need to be dealt with, and then we are going to have probably 40 more flow out of West Nipissing as a result of the testing there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So over the four years of IRM, you basically handle all of them equally over each of the four years, and then when you come next in for rebasing, shazam, ratepayers don't have to pay this money?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Notice I got that on the record?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, as long as they don't change the PCB rules, which they are looking at doing.  They're looking at moving the goalposts on us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, maybe just in time for four years.  Next is, on that same page, you know, you have all these areas of redistribution, and if I understand how this system works, you put the costs in where they fall, and then you reallocate functionally, so that if you have, for example, a cost that is a financial -- a person that is part of your financial costs, but part of it is also part of your customer service costs, you reallocate that over to customer service; is that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And everything is reallocated back and forth on a fully allocated basis?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this says in the last line of the first section, "Costs reallocated from capital FT", so I assume that means you have a similar chart like this for capital, which also has redistributions; right?

MS. KOSKI:  In that case, that was a special circumstance whereby those were labour dollars for failed transformers, which cannot be capitalized as per OEB guidelines, so it was moved into OM&A costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the only one that is here.  There is another one in the next section.

MS. KOSKI:  It's just the two.

MS. WHISSELL:  That is overhead and underground transformers, and it was an oversight in the budget process.  It was easier just to take the dollar value and lump it in as one line, rather than recalculate all of our overheads and whatnot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then how do you manage the allocation between the capital budget and the operating budget?  You have this system that allocates internally within it; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  It's all done by work orders.  So what happens is if a line crew goes out and changes a transformer, okay, puts up a brand new transformer, that's supposed to be -- the labour gets capitalized.  But if we have a failed transformer, that labour should be charged to the operations account, either overhead or underground, okay?

What happened was that didn't happen.  They weren't paying attention, and they actually charged their hours and they budgeted their hours, because we weren't paying attention, in the failed transformers, which is a capital account.

You can't do that.  You can't put up a failed transformer, charge labour hours in the capital account.  It needs to be in these two accounts.

So it isn't a reallocation where we are going to actually see the expense when it actually happens, okay?  The line crew have specific work orders that flow it through to the right place.  They just need to be told what the right place is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is an adjustment?

MS. WHISSELL:  In our budget process, we had the labour in the capital for a category called failed transformers.  We should have budgetted it here.  We did not.  So rather than -- we did a quick-and-dirty fix, and we took the labour dollars from capital and plugged them into these two lines.  This is all this is, and it's the only occurrence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you reduced capital accordingly?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  That's all we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I understand how internally costs get redistributed within OM&A.  I guess I don't understand in this system how you allocate between the capital budget and the OM&A budget.

MR. McMILLAN:  Allocate what?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Allocate costs.  So you have -- for example, you have a substation electrician here on page 21; right?  That's not a good example.

Oh, yes, here's one down here, 1,300 hours for a substation electrician.  If he spends some time on it -- he or she spends some time on a capital item, does that simply not appear here; it appears there?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have a separate capital budget.

MR. McMILLAN:  A separate capital budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I get it.  So now I am looking at page 30.  This is a category, substation equipment.  And the thing I'm trying to understand here is this is not the sort of category that normally -- not the sort of type of expense that would normally change dramatically.  It's the sort of thing that's a regular business activity.

And so to have it double seems strange to me.

MR. McMILLAN:  We haven't been doing it.  We have been failing to do our maintenance that we should have been doing, and that was identified in our report from Costello, and this is addressing that report.

This is saying, Hey, we need more people.  We need to spend more money here.  We are falling behind.  The equipment is going to fail prematurely.  You are not doing the things you should be doing.  This is what you have to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and it's good you are doing it.  I guess the obvious question is:  How much of this is catch-up?  Like, I understand you have to get to a new level, but you are also -- you know, there is stuff that has to be done right now; right?  And that's catch-up as opposed to new norm.

MR. McMILLAN:  In order to understand -- it's chickens and eggs, I think, in that scenario.  In order to identify what would be catch-up, I would have to go into every station and do a quick run-through to saying, Oh, my God, that's failing.

We are not doing that.  What we are doing is we've identified a program with roughly eight stations per year, a four-year cycle, and we are going to go in and we're going to clean them up.  And we are going to do that ongoing now until -- hopefully forever.

And we -- the catch-up tends to be when we do our inspections.  Like, we have to do the OEB one-third per year.  We do an infrared on stations once a year, twice -- once a year, once a year.

So you catch a lot of things on that when you go in and you do the infrared study.  You see hot spots, and you go and deal with those right away, sort of thing.

We also do -- substation guys do a regular monthly inspection, and we have documentation for that, and they catch things as they are in there.

But other than that, the catch-up -- we made the conscious decision we are not going to do a catch-up.  We are going to get into a regular maintenance program and do it that way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in effect, you are just going to start doing it right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I get it.  Then there is this one line, GE contract assistance for maintenance, $30,000.

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That looks like a sort of a kick-starting the program sort of expense; is that fair?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, a couple of things that Costello, in his report, identified to us, and one of the things that he identified was that his opinion is that the MEA journeyperson substation training program doesn't give the journeypersons enough tools to be able to do the job that they need to do, to do the diagnostics when they go in and take a station down, to do the testing that is required.

And GE is pretty up on it, so we are bringing GE in on the cycle to train our people, buy the equipment and train our people on how to do the testing right, so that we will be doing it right when we go forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they will work with you on the first three or four, and then your guys will be good enough to do it on their own?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, we would like to have them in for probably a couple of years on the cycle to really nail it down, because I don't want it done wrong.  I want it done right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  But that $30,000 is not a long-term recurring cost.  It's a one-time or a two-time cost?

MR. McMILLAN:  But this process doesn't give me any mechanism to deal with that.  I have that cost this year.  There it is.  Yes, it will go away in future -- in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. McMILLAN:  Definitely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me turn to page 31, and this is another one of those things that looks anomalous, and yet you have got pole testing expenses of $58,000 where you had a $12,500 expense before.

MR. McMILLAN:  Budgeted.  It was actually never spent.  It was budgeted in the year previous, but we never spent it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is this catch-up?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say it's not catch-up, exactly.  In our capital asset management plan -- or when we looked at the things that people who were coming before this Board were putting together in their capital asset plan and their maintenance management techniques, they are doing pole testing, or it looks like they are being steered towards doing pole testing as a way of identifying poles that don't measure up to CSA standards, et cetera.

We have never done it.  We are going to do it.  So we put it in the budget, and it won't be one time.  It will be an ongoing -- not really a catch-up -- let me rephrase that.

There is an element of catch-up in that, because we recognize -- when you read through our capital asset management plan, we recognize that we are behind in replacing poles.

So we do have to do some catch-up in that area.  Now, identifying exactly which poles we need to concentrate on at this point, we have chosen to look at it from an age perspective, but what we would like to do is get this data done this year, and get that in front of us as we head towards next year's budget and say, Okay, of all the projects, the capital projects that we have got together for next year, do any of them fit with this pole data that we are now seeing before us, having done the testing, okay?

We don't see -- there have been other utilities, I think, that have come before the Board and have said they like pole replacement.  So they will just test poles, fail poles, and will change poles.

We have found that to be an effort in futility.  What we like to do is test poles and replace lines, so you go through and rebuild an entire area.  You put up new secondary, you put up new primary conductor, you put up new insulators, new poles.  You get the old transformers out of there.  You clean it all up.  You get rid of small secondary bus, small neutral issues, grounding issues.

You just deal with it all at once, but you base it on the poles.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that mean you replace some relatively -- some other components of the distribution system that are in relatively good condition?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would argue that they are not in relatively good -- if you look at the likelihood that something -- that a conductor has been replaced while a pole has not, I don't think that's very relevant.

And we are looking at, like, pole lines in our plan that are 1948, 1950.  We are doing a 50-year-old plant, including secondary, including transformers, including switches.  I don't see that we are deal with -- there may be elements within there, little sections that have been upgraded over the years, but, in general, no.

You are dealing with an almost ubiquitous old plant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Intuitively what you say makes sense, but I guess when you are making a judgment call to go against the general trend in the industry right now -- which I think you have fairly pointed out there are a lot of people who just replace poles?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you are making that judgment call, I would have thought you would have a justification, a more rigorous, disciplined justification, an analysis, something like that.  You don't have anything like that?

MR. McMILLAN:  I use my experience, my training and my knowledge to come to that decision.  So when I look at a pole line on a given street and I see that we have open-wire spun bus put up in the 1950s with a very small wire as a neutral conductor, which isn't correct for today's world, okay, I don't really need to do an analysis.  It just strikes me that we need to replace that.  We need to rebuild it.  That's going to be an issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's driven by safety and reliability concerns as opposed to cost differentials.  It might be more expensive to replace a whole line, or it might be cheaper, for that matter.

MR. McMILLAN:  Our experience has been the cost is higher if you go replace the poles, and then somebody phones in and you have the secondary falling down.  You have -- and you go and replace a secondary, and then somebody calls in and we have a transformer switch fail.  You go replace the transformer switch.

Our experience is these areas tend to fail in a random manner, if you will.  If you go in, you upgrade everything and you get out, you don't have the problems you had before.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's operationally cheaper to do it that way; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  It's operationally cheaper to do it, and you are improving your reliability along the way in many aspects.  If you look at the kind of things we see when you go through the -- I am going to say safety, the frequency indexes -- and you try and say, Where are my problems?

Where should I be spending my money?  What kind of issues do I have in reliability that I can go and I can focus on and I can deal with?  Well, trees was one, and we have talked about that in the tree trimming budget.  Our trees were terrible in the early 2000s.

We have spent money on that.  We continue to spend money on that.  That is cleaning up really nice.  But if you look at some of the other drivers behind those things, behind the outages, one of them -- and when you look at the numbers, you look -- you see things like we might have 50 switches fail in a year that cause an outage.

Okay, we have got close to -- let me look the number up -- close to 10,000 switches of all different makes, all different models, all different genres, all different years.  It tends to be the older ones, but we have also now had a rash of ones that were put in within the last five years that have suffered failures.

But you look at that and you say, Okay, how do I deal with that?  How can I improve the reliability for my customers?  How can I spend my money effectively and efficiently?

And one of the answers that comes is you do it through -- you go in and replace poles.  You replace all that, that switch, including that switch.  It's likely going to fail.

You look at your underground.  You look at the failures we have on undergrounds.  It tends to be older plant.  One time it will be a termination on the older plant.  Another time it might be a switch or a clamp.  You go in, you clean all that up when you are rebuilding the line; you don't have problems in that area there going forward.  You just don't.

And we see real value in that, as opposed to go back there next year and fixing that switch, and then going back and fixing some other issue one at a time, and all you have done is fixed the poles.

Granted you have improved public safety in that your pole line is not going to fall down on anyone, but it doesn't change the reliability aspects much, because I don't think you see, in outage statistics, very many times that an outage is caused by a pole randomly falling over.

It's caused by switch failing.  It's caused by a transformer failing.  It's caused by a live line clamp being loose.  It's caused by some conductor issues.

So, in our estimation, that's a really good way to deal with those issues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the question that obviously comes up, if you take that approach, which, again, as I say, it's intuitive, is:  Why then would you spend a lot of money on pole testing?  Because you are really not driving your -- you are not going to replace the poles in the same way as Horizon does, for example, with their big pole testing program.


MR. McMILLAN:  Right.  2204 drives me to that.  Regulation 2204 of the ESA, safety regulation, says that I have to -- I, the professional engineer who works for this utility, has to sign off a certificate once a year saying that I deem that our plant is safe, or words to that effect.

And one of the important issues there is:  Do you really have a handle on how good your poles are?  And they make an issue of that.

And I think we need to do that testing in order to establish some criteria.  One of the issues that we saw coming forward to this, and I presume future rate applications, would be there seemed to be a sense out there in the community that I talked to of my peers that  when they came before the Board, age wasn't a good enough parameter.

I couldn't come to you say and say, I am replacing all these poles because they are old.  Someone would come back and say, Yeah, but do you really know if they are any good or not?  Well, I am going the test them to see if they are any good or not.

It helps support my case that the older plant, which I really feel strongly you are going to see a lot more problems in this area, is in fact where you should be spending your money.

My analogy would be, for any one of us in this room, poles that we have in our system, wood poles, are no different - really no different - than the green lumber you choose to build your decks with.

If you have an expectation your deck is going to last 80 years, man, you've got a way higher expectation than I have.  Some may last, but other parts are going to rot through, and you don't know which parts are going to go.  You have to go in and test.  You have to get a handle on which parts are going to give you specific problems.

I have identified all the old areas that we would like to replace in our capital asset management program, but I would target those areas where, when we do the pole testing, we are coming up with bad results in a more -- a higher statistical result, if you will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are using the poles like the canaries in the mines?

MR. McMILLAN:  You've got it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  I get it.  Last question on this, and this is page 38.  And this is -- this is the conservation and demand management budget.

Now, this budget is the whole CDM budget; right?  This includes a whole lot of stuff that is funded by OPA, it's funded by your rate rider, et cetera; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the amount you have actually got in your regulatory budget $187,000; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In and out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is in and out.  The 187, is that the amount that is covered by the rate rider, or is that the OPA stuff?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's the OPA stuff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the rest of this, the other, what, $412,000, is the stuff covered by the rate rider?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.

MR. CLARK:  Are you going to be much longer?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ten, 15 minutes.

MR. CLARK:  Anybody need a break, or should we push through?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a question on your capital asset management program.  I am looking at SEC interrogatory number -- it's page 17 of your responses.  It's actually -- if I can get to the question.

MR. McMILLAN:  Is this an initial interrogatory?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nine -- yes.  It is Metsco report, Metsco letter.

On the third page of that, they talk about there being a draft report and a conference call.  Do you see that on page 19 of your responses?

MR. McMILLAN:  This is under 3-6?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's in 3-6, that's right.  There's a conference call, and then a draft report; do you see that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that conference call took place?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there was a draft report?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have that draft report?

MR. McMILLAN:  I don't know if I have a copy of it.  I am not certain.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to see if you can find it and provide it?

MR. McMILLAN:  I guess I will have to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's no secret.  What we are looking for is:  Did the independent advisor suggest something that you later talked about?

MR. McMILLAN:  I will tell you that there is not many changes in it, because I truly wanted to keep that independence.  I did not ask him to change anything that I could really remember of substance, even though I don't necessarily agree with some of the things he said in his report.  I felt that you wouldn't want that, and if I can find that draft, I will gladly give it to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have never seen two engineers agree on anything.

MR. McMILLAN:  No, we don't agree on everything, that's true.

DR. HIGGIN:  No less than two lawyers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought you were asleep, Roger.  Okay.  Now, I am looking at the response to --

MR. CLARK:  Sorry, I was distracted there.  Do I still have an undertaking standing or not?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, the draft Metsco report.

MR. CLARK:  Number 9, draft Metsco report.
UNDERTAKING NO. 9:  TO Provide draft Metsco report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This I think -- it is on page 25 of your responses -- 26 and 26 of your responses to the original SEC interrogatories.  And you have a chart that is called "Organizational Changes From 2000 To 2008".  This is FTEs, I think.

Then you have a forecast for 2009 through 2013; do you see that?

MS. WHISSELL:  Not yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's 25 and 26 of your responses to SEC IRs.  It is 9(e).  It is just right after the Metsco stuff.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  Well, let's take a look.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe three or four pages later, or five pages later.

MS. WHISSELL:  What was the page reference again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Twenty-five and 26.

MR. McMILLAN:  Twenty-five and 26.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You see those two charts, the FTE charts?

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay, who did those?  Okay, now I am with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have two questions.  First of all, the two charts basically fit together end to end, past and future, done on a comparable basis?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the second thing is you have a line, "PLE Apprentice Prehire", which starts at 2008 with two people, and then goes up, and then comes back down.

Is this the apprentice program to fill succession planning?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So prehire is prehire them before you need to replace them?

MR. McMILLAN:  Before this person retires, I need this person here, even though I don't really have a slot for them per se, a staff complement, if you will, but I want that person in, because when the retiree goes, if I just hire an apprentice, I have an incompetent, if you will, person rather than a competent worker.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How does that differ from a power line -- an electrician, inexperienced?

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  Now you have me think back to what I was trying to present to you here.  Okay, an apprentice would be someone who is still going through their four years of apprenticeship and has not yet got their actual licence or ticket, if you will, okay?

What I was trying to do was give you a presentation of how the bodies might flow in the line staff.  So someone who you hire as a prehire, okay, goes along, in through their four years.  So they come in to us possibly with up to two years under their belt, and they will need about two years.  Then they go into that -- if you recall what I said this morning, you need eight years to get a journeyman lineman.  So you have four years until they become actually a journeyperson, okay?

But in the next four years, they are really inexperienced.  They really -- still they are they're -- they have their papers, they have their qualifications, but they are still in a learning state, and that's where I would move them from the apprentice prehire to the inexperienced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2008, you hired two apprentice prehire, and we see in 2011 you have two powerline electrician inexperienced.  That's the same two guys?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.  So what happens is, in 2010, I have got six prehires, okay?  So I have got six people who have not yet attained their journeyperson qualifications.

Over the next year, I hire one more, so that would increment it to seven, but two of them graduate to the inexperienced category.  So I have got seven bodies there, one new, two moved up to inexperienced.  They got their papers, but they are still in that learning period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At some point, they move from that line, the powerline electrician inexperienced, to the next line, powerline electrician?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's off the chart?

MR. McMILLAN:  Actually, what happens is -- what I am trying to show you is in the powerline electrician, okay, I can postulate that between 2009 and 2010 I will lose one person to retirement.  So it went from 13 to 12, okay?

And I can postulate that it goes down another one between 2010 and 2011.  I can postulate that it goes down another one between 2011 and 2012.  I don't have, in my opinion, a full journeyperson.  What I have is an experienced line apprentice -- or an apprentice and an inexperienced journeyperson now who is replacing that person who had 35, 40 years' experience who walked out the door on retirement, okay?

So if you took the total in any year in that yellow section, what I am trying to show you is we prehire and you kind of balloon up in bodies and costs, right, to get yourself ready for when the people start going out the door, and then you kind of come back down again, okay?

And it's a measured, planned response to what we are going to see when the baby boomers go, an attempt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2007, you have 14 people in that category, and by 2011 you have 19, because you have lost some experienced people, but you have gained some inexperienced and some apprentices.  And by 2013, you are back down the 17, because the system is starting to kick into gear?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the question I have to ask about this is:  While the FTE numbers are increasing over that period of time, these are relatively a lot cheaper people, right, apprentices and inexperienced electricians?  A guy close to retirement is making a lot more money than they are?

MR. McMILLAN:  By fourth year, they are making the same money.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.  That's the way the contract works.  If you are a powerline maintainer A, you get $33 an hour, whether you have just got your ticket or whether you have been here 35 years, and you are in that category.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Interesting, okay.  The last question about these two charts is:  Are they just FTEs applicable to OM&A, or are they also FTEs applicable to capital?

MR. McMILLAN:  They are FTEs applicable to both.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Both.  And you don't do an allocation between -- of FTEs between OM&A and capital; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except in this detailed sort of hourly thing in your big budget?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.  You build it up from zero every year.  You build up your maintenance and operations budget and allocate your resources there, and what's left goes into capital.  And if you can't finish your work program in capital, you are looking at contracting above and beyond that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a good 10 minutes left.  With the witnesses' indulgence and everybody else and the court reporter's patience, I would like to finish, if I could.

Sorry, it's 5 o'clock, but sometimes I get carried away with the discussion.

Right at the end of that IR, you talk about -- the same IR -- that is, on page 27, right at the end of where we were just looking --

MR. McMILLAN:  Can I take you back to something just for a second back to the chart, because I just realized I want to emphasize something else?

I was trying to see it, and I put it in something as a little different.  One of the other categories in there that you have to keep your eye on, unfortunately I didn't highlight it in the yellow, was the one just above it, powerline electrician SF.  That's the subforeman.

So the natural progression is that probably our most elder people are in the subforeman category.  There is where the holes are going to -- they are going to walk out of there, and you are going to see the attrition start to flow up from there, the total -- because when you said the total 14, I say, No, it's 14.  What the heck?

So if you go back to 2007, you need to add the four.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  So the four plus 14 is 18.  That's our staff complement of working powerline electricians, including subforeman, and I just wanted to keep that as you go through.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you actually go from 18 up to 23 by 2011, and then back down to 22 by 2013?

MR. McMILLAN:  And part of that, as well, Jay, is if we get approval for these rates and the capital programs that we see flowing out of these rates, we will need these bodies.  And that's discussed in the capital asset management plan.

We will need these bodies incrementing, as we go through, in order to be able to address the capital side of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that actually goes where -- it leads to what I was just about to ask, and that is on the top of page 27.  You talk about the expanded plant renewal program.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yup.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have all these extra bodies; right?  Admittedly, they are inexperienced, but they are not sitting around doing nothing?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to employ them in your capital program; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that should result -- normally, when you do that, that results in your OM&A going down?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, that's not the way I view it.  It isn't like you are saying that I can trade off those hours.  You have a body of work in maintenance that needs to be done, okay?  I need to maintain those breakers in that substation, and there are -- we want to do eight stations per year, and you can pretty much calculate it is going to be X hours per breaker.

That's the example I am using, because it's easy to see, rather than the line work, which is somewhat more difficult to see.

So you have the sort of standard packages of work that you want them to do.  So you are going to do that maintenance, unless you got a budget cut that says -- like as we talked about before, where you say, Okay, I am not going to get the rates to support the people that I need in my budget, and I need to cut my OM&A.  I cut my OM&A; I am not going to do that work.

But the work we put forward in the plan we believe is valuable, necessary work to maintain our distribution system.  And you would employ the apprentices in both OM&A and capital, but you would do all that work.  You wouldn't, say, shut down the OM&A work and do the capital work, except to the exclusion of what Stan tells me I can spend or I can't spend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me turn to just a couple of other areas, then, before I wrap it up.  The first is on page 31 of these IR responses, and this is your response to SEC 10(e) -- no, (i), sorry.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a letter from Bell Canada saying, Fix these poles, basically?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You responded.  There was a back and forth:  This is when we will do it; no, we can't do it tomorrow; yeah, you have to do it right away; all that stuff.  Right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was e-mails?

MR. McMILLAN:  There was verbal discussion back and forth.  This is the only e-mail that we got on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't respond in an e-mail?

MR. McMILLAN:  No, we put it in our budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the next one is on page 37.  I am actually going to ask you a couple of questions about this.  It's about water billing.

MR. McMILLAN:  About which?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Water billing.


MR. McMILLAN:  Okay, that's yours.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I saw the look on your face.  You're saying come on, it's five after five.

I going to start with the SAP because that's the one that is most surprising to me, and on page 37 of these IR responses you talk about -- we asked you how the City's paying for the additional SAP costs and your answer is that no, they are not paying anything extra.

So I don't understand why that is.  Your costs in this area are going up, and not insignificant.  Why aren't you charging them more?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, we are subject to this contract.  Like, we got into it by default, I am going to say.  It was dealing with cost savings and synergies with our transition board going back to the year 2000.  It was a hot topic, politically, I guess, and there was synergy there.
The transition board recognized it.  We entered into a contractual agreement with them.  At the time that we entered into the contract we didn't anticipate any changes.  We were very happy with the advanced billing system.  We didn't think our world was going to change.  It was a locked-in contract for a fixed sum of dollars subject to CIP escalation, subject to meter-reading costs being transferred on a direct basis to them and it had a life of ten years.
So, like, there is just no door for us to go back to renegotiate, you know, the implementation of a new system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this contract in evidence?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Is this which?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the contract in evidence?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide it?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Um-hmm.

MR. CLARK:  That will be Undertaking No. 10, and you will provide the contract for water billing services.  Okay.
UNDERTAKING NO. 10:  To provide the contract for water billing services


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in that contract, is it not subject to ARC?  Isn't there a regulatory approval limitation that --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, the way we understood it there was no limitation.  We went by the words of the Minister of the day, is what I am going to say, that it's a permissible activity.  There are synergies, you know, the prime example being stamps, for instance.  If you can send one invoice with one stamp versus two stamps, well, there is dollar savings, and that is the basis that I was approached under, under the philosophy that it is one customer paying the bill.  I am either paying an electricity bill or I am paying the water bill.  It's the same person.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a shared bill; right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One bill has both charges on it.  Also, it's all the same customers.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there water bills that go to people that don't have electricity, or vice versa?


MR. REEVES:  Yes, there are, and you know, this goes back to our dilemma with Hydro One because there is several thousand.  More than several thousand, there is -- I can't think of the exact number.  Anyways, there is several thousand Hydro One customers that we bill for water.  Not hydro, obviously.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me -- hah, so on the SAP, basically you are going to get this fancy new system and the City is going to get it for free; right?  They don't have to pay any extra for their water; right?  They are not using it for anything else, but they are getting the water billing component for no charge?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  For the fixed price contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When is the contract over?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  2013, I believe, I think.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you approached the City about changing?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  This has ramifications for smart metering.  We have this huge dilemma now.  There are no more meter readers around there.  There are synergies, because the meters for water and electricity are read simultaneously, as well as all this other stuff.
Well, we are at a loss.  We have initiated those discussions with them, and we are working through the possibilities.  For instance, they are exploring the idea of going to an automated meter system for the water billing component and tying it all into this super smart grid initiative that we are driving.  But those discussions are very much in a preliminary stage, but they are put on notice that we are going to have to redress this problem, because now you are dealing with meter-reading costs that are considerably different if they are going out only to read water meters.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it sounds like if they go to that fancy smart metering combined thing they won't pay for that either? It was a cheap shot.  Sorry, I couldn't resist.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Just to reassure you a little bit, no, we charged them fully for the pilot, because we bought -- how many meters did we buy?  Fifty of their meters.  They were charged 100 per cent plus all the consultants.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So just on this point, then, I just have one other reference to ask you to look at, and that is Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition in their round two IRs No. 34.  This is page 2 of your responses I am looking at responses.  Page 34 (sic) is pages 1 and 2.

On your favourite subject of water billing -- do you have that?  You are getting it, okay.  Part F.  Do you have it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you see this chart here which is your various customer care costs, and with, I guess, a breakdown between utility and city components of those costs; right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I have a couple of questions on this.  First of all, you have got the utility customers and the water customers as the same.  That can't be right.  You just said there are several thousand that are Hydro One.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, those are the actual accounts for water meters.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you got several thousands Hydro One customers who are not utility customers that you are billing, as well.  Is that in addition to these 46,000?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, that is included in the water billing customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what is the utility customer’s number?  That can't be right, then.


MS. WHISSELL:  It is a meter count for water and a meter count for electric.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why are they identical?  They are 400 apart.


MS. WHISSELL:  That is a meter count for water and a meter count for electric.  They are very similar, but it's just based on, we have a lot of electric accounts that don't have water billed, and then we have water accounts.  The numbers just happen to be close.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They were verified numbers.  I had the same question when I prepared this little chart.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have several thousand Hydro One customers who are only water customers and you have presumably, then, several thousands GSHI customers electricity customers who don't have water in their houses.  You might have multiple meters.

MS. WHISSELL:  Perfect example would be multi-metered water for apartment building that is individually metered.

MR. McMILLAN:  My house would be another example.  I live in the City of Greater Sudbury and I have a well.  I am a customer but I don't have a water account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you have a breakdown of the costs for the utility customer care to 2.9 million, which is -- basically it's the 2.5 in your application plus 420 for depreciation; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is allocated between water and the utility; right?  So presumably the overall costs you expend are actually 3.6 million.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct, as it's reflected here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That meter reading cost of 236 hundred (sic), that's more like 300 and then you reduce it to the utility component.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  Within that 729 is meter reading of --

MS. WHISSELL:  Probably very close to electric.

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, here is what I am trying to understand.  That 729 is actually made up of the various, the same various components, right?  Meter reading, cashiers, customer accounts, market services, blah, blah, blah.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's included in the 729 total. Metering is a separately billed item that passes through, flows through but it's a component of the 729 and I am going to say that the number for meter reading for water is $132,000 as a separate billed item and $600,000 for the contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are paying $15 per customer?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's their contribution, you know my interpretation of the question asked the contribution from the city is $15.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your contract says they pay 12 or so, right now; right? They pay on a per customer basis?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They pay on a flat charge, from memory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A flat charge.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  A flat charge $600,000 for the service.

MS. WHISSELL:  With a CPI index.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But right now 600.

MS. WHISSELL:  Stan is saying about 132 for the meter reading; 600 is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is so no attempt to comply with ARC in this.  You haven't allocated your costs in any way.  You have a contract, you pay it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No it's on the basis of the contribution approach that I explained earlier.  What would my savings be were I not doing water billing?  You know, I would still probably incur costs very close to the 3.6, they would be 100 per cent borne by the utility hydro customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right but ARC doesn't allow you to use marginal costing it requires fully allocated costing you haven't attempted to do that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  We have not attempted to correct it.  We are going to correct it.  As we go through this process, smart metering, the contract expiring, we will take a whole different approach to it.  It was all of this, it was in vogue at the time, there was all these efficiencies that were going to happen in our world, and the Minister convinced the political leaders who were on our board of directors that we take these actions, and we have been resisting ARC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have two other quick questions.  The first is on page 41 of your SEC IRs, this is IR 16(b).  You talk about one of your affiliates 1700211.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is your landfill gas company; right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a subsidiary or as sister company?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It’s an affiliate company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it’s another subsidiary of Plus?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's a holdco.  Holdco is the parent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  But you bought preferred shares in that, and that was out of third tranche money?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that was a board decision that said you could buy preferred shares with third tranche money?   Can you give me the reference for that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I can't offhand, but I certainly have the correspondence and board direction.   It's part of our application process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you could just give me the EB number at some point -- I don't need an undertaking, but if you can just let me know.  I would like to look at it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The last thing is on appendix 1 of your responses to School Energy Coalition IRs.  You have a list of schools.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I will say on the record, knowing my client is going to read this, it's probably not appropriate to put a list of customers with their account numbers on the public record.  I mean, had you asked, we probably would have said take the account numbers off.  But my question about this is do you --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Just as an aside, I will tell you that we were considering responding in that particular fashion to your question, and then we said, he has another source to get this information therefore we provided it as a response to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not that you give it to me, it's that anybody can read it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  We apologize for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is it looks like you have a quite a number of these customers with multiple connections and are billed multiple times for the same location.  Is that right?  This is an ongoing problem with schools, as it happens.  I’ve got now a utility that’s shown me what they are doing, and it looks like you have eight or ten extra, maybe 15 extra.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that sound about right they are billed as multiple customers so they pay multiple fixed charges et cetera.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there particular reasons you do that?

MR. McMILLAN:  I am going to have to speculate.  In older scenarios, and I don’t know if these are newer or older, what you might find is that they have multiple voltages, so at sometime they may have come along and said we want to put in six portables in this school.  Well, rather than take a service from the school, we would establish a service from an existing single-phase service outside and bring it to the portables and that would be a metering point.  Okay.  So now you have two for the same school. Or you may have within the school, you might have a single-phase and a three-phase service because they have certain equipment that requires three-phase but not single-phase, and they were running single phase and upgraded.  There are all sorts of things happen in the history.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I guess it's right that this increases the cost to the customer if they have multiples.

MR. McMILLAN:  Because now you’re saying, or if the customer has said I require you to give me a three-phase service because I have this new elevator or I have this new air conditioning unit, and yes, therefore, now I would have to put or would have a three-phase transformer bank in addition to the single-phase transformer bank feeding that customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This would also happen because the customer asked for it to be done that way.  If it were up to you, you would connect through the same connection?


MR. McMILLAN:  What we would do is, we would provide the customer with the information.  The customer, let's say we are dealing with some type of an older school that had a single-phase service and they get something new and it requires the three-phase service.  You give the customer, you can talk to them about options, but usually the options end up costing the customer a lot of capital money if they want to go with a single service.

So you request, say okay you knew you need a three-phase service for the school because you put in this elevator for accessibility, and to meet the accessibility laws or whatever there may be.  We can take that three-phase service and put in a dry type transformer, and you then you can sub-feed your existing single-phase service and get rid of it, but he goes back to his consultant and the consultant says, oh that's going to be X number of tens of thousands of dollars to put that in.  I am just going the leave that existing service, because I don't have it in my capital budget.  Put me in the new one for that, I’ve got capital money for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This isn't a problem that's limited to schools.  There’s lots of general service customers that have multiple connections, right, hospitals and municipal buildings.

MR. McMILLAN:  And legacy systems.  You end up with old downtown buildings that have delta fed air conditioners, delta fed elevators, delta fed refrigeration units and you are avoiding delta going forward, so they end up stuck with that service.  And we say, well, you can convert it to grounded wire services, and they say, well, I don't have the money for that.  I don't want to spend it.  I am not going to do it, and they end up with two services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Sorry to take so long.  Those are my questions, thanks.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, well, we don't have any follow-up questions, unless Roger does -- then I think we will conclude for today and meet again tomorrow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, sorry.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Too late.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One minute, okay.  One minute.  Because I just want to get this on the record.  So I have distributed to you a document that is a listing of utility comparisons.  This distribution charges for 45 utilities using 2008 published rates.

MR. THIESSEN:  Has that been given an exhibit number?  Let's call that TC-8.
Exhibit TC-8:  Listing of utility comparisons, distribution charges for 45 utilities


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  You have seen this, this was provided to you earlier today.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is consistent with your understanding of where you ranked in terms of your relative costs for your customers relative to other utilities.

MR. REEVES:  Can I just get clarification as to what's presented here.  These are all 2008 distribution charges annual, for 2008, for the various utilities except us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No everybody, 2008 for everybody.

MR. REEVES:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's published fixed and variable charges that's all.  Nothing else, plain vanilla.

MR. REEVES:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is this consistent with where your rates lineup to other utilities?

MR. REEVES:  Yes I think that's what I said initially, was that our residential rate was middle of the pack.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now not on here is Hydro One.  And in your experience in Sudbury, Hydro One customers in all classes pay a lot more; is that correct?


MR. McMILLAN:  Much higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Much higher.  And that's all I have to ask about that.  And that is my question, thanks.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Now I think I can safely say this technical conference is concluded, I think we are going to continue tomorrow morning with the settlement portion of this.

And George, do you have anything you would like to add for tomorrow’s --  Why don't we just say that that's the end of it.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 5:27 p.m.
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